Florida International University FIU Digital Commons

FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations

University Graduate School

11-21-2002

Solving the mystery of Guanxi-a sociological explanation of social exchange and social networking in Guanxi practice

Sara Zhang Abramson Florida International University

DOI: 10.25148/etd.FI13101514
Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.fiu.edu/etd
Part of the Sociology Commons

Recommended Citation

Abramson, Sara Zhang, "Solving the mystery of Guanxi-a sociological explanation of social exchange and social networking in Guanxi practice" (2002). *FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 1083. https://digitalcommons.fiu.edu/etd/1083

This work is brought to you for free and open access by the University Graduate School at FIU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of FIU Digital Commons. For more information, please contact dcc@fu.edu.

FLORIDA INTERNATIONAL UNIVERSITY

Miami, Florida

SOLVING THE MYSTERY OF *GUANXI* – A SOCIOLOGICAL EXPLANATION OF SOCIAL EXCHANGE AND SOCIAL NETWORKING IN GUANXI PRACTICE

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF ARTS

in

COMPARATIVE SOCIOLOGY

by

Sara Zhang Abramson

2002

To: Dean Arthur W. Herriott College of Arts and Sciences

This thesis, written by Sara Zhang Abramson, and entitled Solving the Mystery of Guanxi - A Sociological Explanation of Social Exchange and Social Networking in Guanxi Practice, having been approved in respect to style and intellectual content, is referred to you for judgment.

We have read this thesis and recommend that it be approved.

A. Douglas Kincaid Mary Ann Von Glinow Guillermo Grenier, Major Professor Date of Defense: November 21, 2002 The thesis of Sara Zhang Abramson is approved. Dean Arthur W. Herriott College of Arts and Sciences Dean Douglas Wartzok University Graduate School

Florida International University, 2002

© Copyright 2002 by Sara Zhang Abramson

All rights reserved.

h.

DEDICATION

I dedicate this thesis to Brian.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I wish to thank the members of my committee: Dr. A. Douglas Kincaid, Dr. Mary Ann Von Glinow, and most of all, my major professor, Dr. Guillermo Grenier, for their patience and helpful comments. I would also like to thank my husband, Brian, for his understanding and unending support.

ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS

SOLVING THE MYSTERY OF *GUANXI* – A SOCIOLOGICAL EXPLANATION OF SOCIAL EXCHANGE AND SOCIAL NETWORKING IN GUANXI PRACTICE

by

Sara Zhang Abramson

Florida International University, 2002

Miami, Florida

Professor Guillermo Grenier, Major Professor

Guanxi, loosely defined as "inter-personal relations" or "personal connections," is one of the key socio-cultural concepts in understanding Chinese society. This thesis presented a theoretical examination of the Chinese socio-cultural concept of *guanxi*. By using a broad survey of the available literature, this thesis established the following points: Social structures shape and define the development of *guanxi* practice in Chinese society. *Guanxi* relationships are based on the social exchange of gifts and favors in dyadic or multi-stranded social networks. While following the general rules of reciprocity found in social exchange, *guanxi* exchange is also governed by the internalized social norms such as *mianzi* (face) and *renqing* (humanized obligation underpinned by human sentiment). *Guanxi* relationships are also network-oriented, featuring ties based on familiarity and mutual trust, and characterized by an interplay between expressiveness and instrumentalism.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER	PAGE
I. INTRODUCTION	1
THE CONCEPT	1
LITERATURE REVIEW	
METHODOLOGY	5
STRUCTURE	
II. SOCIAL ROOT OF <i>GUANXI</i>	9
DEFINITION	9
THE DEVELOPMENT OF GUANXI IN CHINESE SOCIETY	11
III. SOCIAL EXCHANGE IN <i>GUANXI</i> PRACTICE	
GIFTS AND FAVORS IN GUANXI PRACTICE	
RENQING AND MIANZI	
THE OBLIGATION TO REPAY	47
TIMING AND "IMPLICIT BARGAINING" IN GUANXI EXCHANGE	
IV. SOCIAL NETWORKING IN GUANXI PRACTICE	
THE IMPORTANCE OF GUANXI BASES	57
THE INTERMEDIARY A KEY PLAYER	61
INTERPLAY OF EXPRESSIVENESS AND INSTRUMENTALISM	67
V. CONCLUSION	
RECAPITULATION OF THE PRACTICE OF GUANXI	
GUANXI'S FUTURE IN CHINESE SOCIETY	81
RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH	
REFERENCES	87

Chapter I - Introduction

THE CONCEPT

China remains the constant obsession of social researchers, as it is rich in history, and brings more than one sixth of the world's population together in a unique culture. One of the key socio-cultural concepts in understanding Chinese society is *guanxi*, which can be loosely defined as inter-personal relations or personal connections depending on different contexts. For example, we can say person A and person B have good *guanxi*. In this context *guanxi* means relationship. We can also say person A has a lot of *guanxi*. In this context, *guanxi* means social connections. The concept in itself is not a sociological term. It is just the Chinese way to express inter-personal relations or personal connections.

However, *guanxi* practice is sociologically significant because: first, it is a unique socio-cultural phenomenon in China, therefore the study of *guanxi* practice will shed more light on the understanding of Chinese culture; second, the study of this peculiar practice can help us examine the dynamics of inter-personal relationships in China during various historical periods of time, which will contribute to a more comprehensive understanding of Chinese society; third, the study of *guanxi* practice in China will facilitate comparative studies between societies with similar cultural traditions, such as Japan and Korea.

Guanxi practice is ubiquitous and plays a crucial role in Chinese people's daily life. The phenomenon is vividly summarized by Fox Butterfield in his book, *China: Alive in the Bitter Sea*:

"Guanxi provides the lubricant for Chinese to get through life...It was a form of social investment. Developing, cultivating, and expanding one's guanxi became a common preoccupation. The advent of the Communists had not fundamentally changed that. As a result, the Chinese have turned the art of personal relations into a carefully calculated science. There are even people who live entirely on their guanxi."

Empirical studies also prove the significance of *guanx*i in Chinese people's daily life. Chu and Ju's (1990) survey among 2,000 Chinese in 1988 demonstrates that Chinese people consider *guanxi* to be essential to social-economic life. When asked to rate the importance of network connections in Chinese society, 42.7% rated them "very important," 26.9% rated them "important," and 22.8% rated them "somewhat important." Fewer than 8% rated them either "not very important" or "not important at all."

The recent economic reforms have brought attention to *guanxi* to an unprecedented extent. As many economic activities are yet to be regulated, they are still subject to the judgment of the person in power. Business persons who have good *guanxi* with government officials have a much easier time dealing with bureaucratic regulations and procedures. The corporate experience of Avon in China presents an instructive case for this scenario. Being the first registered direct selling company in China, Avon made its way into China through *guanxi*. After its first unsuccessful effort of obtaining approval for its direct marketing method from the central government, Avon turned to David Li, the head of Hong Kong's Bank of East Asia, who enjoys "cordial" *guanxi* with the Chinese government. Under Li's arrangement, Avon was successful introduced to the

Bureau of Light Industry in southern China and subsequently received the permission for doing business in China. Correspondingly, Li received a 5-percent equity as reward (Tsang 1998: 65).

LITERATURE REVIEW

Most of the literature, sociological or not, attribute the prevalence of guanxi in Chinese society to the philosophical legacy of Confucianism (Tsang 1998; Ang 2000; Farh, Tsui, Xin, and Cheng 1998; Wong 1998; Yeung and Tung 1996; Kiong and Kee 1998; Tsui and Farh 1997; Luo 1997a; Luo 1997b). Without question this view has a good deal of sociological truth, given that Confucianism is considered to be the most influential philosophy in ancient China. Its relevance in the understanding of *guanxi* can be summarized in the following four points. First, in Confucian social order, immediate family is most important to an individual, followed by more distant relatives, followed by friends, with strangers being least important. Hence, an individual fulfills the corresponding role expectations based on the Confucian social order. This ancient tradition gives rise to the inclination of Chinese people to divide others into categories and treat them differently. Such categorization and differentiation is one of the key mechanisms underlying guanxi practice. Second, Confucian social order postulates the perception that individuals are inter-dependent within the surrounding social context, which is the theoretical origin of why guanxi has been attached so much attention by Chinese. Third, the Confucian conception of social order advocates that morality, rather than law, should rule the nation. This belief results in a lack of formal, institutionalized support for many political structures. Subsequently, personal connection is employed to fill this vacuum. Fourth, the notion of the balance of the universe argues that each individual experience is a component in a chain of events. This explains from a Confucian perspective why, after initially established, *guanxi* needs constant maintenance.

Although the influence of traditional Confucian modes of thought on Chinese people's behaviors is undeniable, the tradition-focused explanation fails to answer why *guanxi* is witnessing ascendancy, instead of declining in significance, even after the norms and values of Confucianism were condemned and replaced by Communist ideology after the Liberation in 1949. Moreover, being a special type of inter-personal relationship, *guanxi* has its instrumental facet: it allows one party to benefit in tangible ways from this relationship with another party. The example of how Avon worked its way into Chinese market is a typical example. As for this facet of *guanxi*, the Confucianism-based analysis falls short.

The overly Confucianism-based explanation of *guanxi* practice (Tsang 1998; Tsui and Farh 1997; Luo 1997a; Luo 1997b; Marchetti 1997; Murphy 1996; Leung, Y. Wong and S. Wong 1996) inevitably confines it to Chinese-cultural context. However, evidence shows that similar concept exists in other cultures too. Ambler (1995: 26) notes, "Business in Japan, Korea, and India is permeated by similar thinking as are, to a lesser extent, cultures worldwide." Walder (1986: 179) observes, "The concept is by no means culturally unique [to China]; the terms *blat* in Russia and *pratik* in Haiti refer to the same type of instrumental-personal tie." Moreover, gift giving and favor offering are identified as the mostly mentioned techniques to initiate and maintain *guanxi* (Xin and Pearce 1996; Yang 1994; Leung, Y. Wong and S. Wong 1996; Tsang 1998; Yeung and Tung 1996; Vanhonacker 1997; Kiong and Kee 1998; Luo 1997a). Without doubt, these two practices are definitely not limited to Chinese society. The universal existence of *guanxi*-like practices makes the Confucianism-focused interpretation of *guanxi* even less plausible.

On the other hand, *guanxi* has been disproportionately related to business practices since the economic reforms of the 1980s began to insert China into the global economy. The majority of the existing academic work on *guanxi* approaches *guanxi* as an edge for doing business in China (Tsang 1998; Ang 2000; Shoveller 1999; Wong 1998; Lydgate 1998; Yeung and Tung 1996; Economist 1997; Vanhonacker 1997; Yatsko 1997; Kiong and Kee 1998; Luo 1997a; Luo 1997b; Marchetti 1997; Murphy 1996; Leung, Y. Wong and S. Wong 1996; Cunningham 1995; Ambler 1995; Webb 1997; Business Week 1997; Sender and Yatsko 1997; Taylor 1997). This approach over-emphasizes the instrumental aspect of *guanxi* practice while ignoring the relational and sentimental dimension of *guanxi* practice.

METHODOLOGY

This main purpose of this thesis is to explore *guanxi* practice from a sociological perspective. On the theoretical level, the research question of this thesis will be focused on the social exchange dimension and networking dimension of *guanxi* practice. These two dimensions are chosen for the reasons described in the following paragraphs.

First, the two most commonly documented practices in a *guanxi* relationship are gift exchanges and favor exchanges. Ang (2000: 46) writes, "...the execution of a successful

guanxi requires financial resources in most instances. Relationships are cultivated with gift exchanges and frequent socializing." Yan (1996) gives a detailed description of gift exchanges among villager in Xiajia village in their effort to maintain good guanxi with other relatives, neighbors and friends. In Yeung and Tung's (1996) survey among 19 companies stationed in Hong Kong, the result shows that all 19 companies interviewed in the study tendered favors in the course of guanxi building and maintenance. Because of the important role of gift/favor exchange in guanxi practice, it should be included in any study of guanxi practice. In addition to gift/favor exchange, renging is another medium that is exchanged in a guanxi relationship. Renging literally means human sentiment. A detailed articulation will be given in Chapter III regarding this concept. It is mentioned here, however, because some readers may wonder why the term "social exchange" is more appropriate than "gift/favor exchange." The reason is that renging is also an exchange medium in a guanxi relationship. The social exchange dimension of guanxi is not inclusive until gift, favor, and *renging* are all present.

Second, reciprocity, one of the distinct features found in social exchange, is a key element in *guanxi* practice. Luo (1997: 44) argues "*guanxi* is reciprocal". Tsang (1998: 65) defines *guanxi* as "a reciprocal obligation to respond to requests for assistance." Chang (1998: 44) puts the role of reciprocity in *guanxi* practice in the following way: "Parties in a *guanxi* relationship are bound by an unspoken agreement of reciprocal favors. Failure to fulfill one's end of the agreement can greatly diminish one's social reputation and their ability to maintain an effective *guanxi* network." Yang (1994: 2) writes, "Once *guanxi* is established between two people, each can ask a favor of the other with the expectation that the debt incurred will be repaid sometime in the future." It is

safe to say that reciprocity is the most recognized social convention to comply with in *guanxi* practice. An originally strong *guanxi* can become flaccid when one party fails to fulfill the obligation to repay. Ritzer (1996: 274) describes such a mechanism as "contingent, that depend, on rewarding reactions from others – actions that cease when expected reactions are not forth-coming."

Third, as guanxi practice usually involves at least two actors who share a common identity or multiple dimensions of common identity¹, it has the attribute of social networking. In fact, as mentioned in the previous section, one of the primary meanings of guanxi is social connection. Networking, therefore, forms an indispensable part of the concept itself. In addition, the widely recognized interaction patterns in guanxi practice such as the necessity of the "particularistic" ties also demonstrates the social networking dimension of guanxi practice. The importance of the personal ties in guanxi practice echoes network theory's major concern: "the objective pattern of ties linking the members of society" (Ritzer 1996: 286). In fact, guanxi practice has been discussed in network terms for a long time. King (1991: 69) writes, "Kuan-hsi (guanxi) building is a work of social engineering through which the individual establishes his personal network." Bian and Soon's (1997) paper "Guanxi Networks and Job Mobility in China and Singapore" studies how individuals take advantage of their personal networks to obtain better jobs in labor market.

¹ For example, A and B are coworkers. B and C are neighbors. A and C are classmates.

STRUCTURE

This thesis will first trace the social root of *guanxi*. In the second chapter, the development of *guanxi* in China is examined over a period of three different kinds of societies: Confucian society, Communist society under Maoism, and finally the emerging market-economy-based society. The third chapter focuses on the social exchange dimension of *guanxi* practice. The fourth chapter concentrates on the social networking dimension of *guanxi* practice. In the closing chapter, *guanxi*'s future in Chinese society is predicted and recommendations for future research are suggested.

Chapter II- Social Root of Guanxi

DEFINITION

The Chinese word *guanxi* came into use a century ago (Luo 1997a; Ambler 1995). Despite its wide usage, *guanxi* does not appear in either of the two classic Chinese dictionaries: *Ci Yuan* ("Source of Words," published in 1915) or *Ci Hai* ("Word Sea," published in 1936) (ibid).

Guanxi is made of two Chinese characters: 关, which is written in pinyin as guan and pronounced like "gwan" and 系, written in pinyin as xi and pronounced like "see." The basic meaning of guan is a gateway. In ancient China, massive guans were built in mountainous areas or on the shores of oceans to prevent outsiders from invading the country. The famous tourist resort, *Shanhai guan* in Beijing, is one of them. The Chinese translation for customs is *hai guan*, which literally means a checkpoint at sea. *Guan* also transmits a sense of being inside versus outside. As Ambler (1995: 27) notes, "Think about it metaphorically as a sand bar at a harbor entrance, with the inside being smooth. Inside, you are "one of us," but outside the bar your existence is barely recognized."

Xi, in general, means ties such as kinship (*shi xi*). The basic meaning of xi underlies a sense of shared group identity. For example, university departments are called xi in Chinese, indicating a group of people who identify themselves and are identified by those outside the group as being tied together by their specialization within their sphere of professional knowledge. Used as a verb, xi means "are related" or "maintain the

9

relationship." This aspect of the word *xi* brings about another two dimensions: relationship-based and long-term-oriented.

Due to the multiple dimensions and various meanings of the word, depending on different contexts, *guanxi* can only be loosely translated as "inter-personal relationship" (for instance, if A and B have good relationship with each other, we can say A and B have good *guanxi*; on the other hand, if A and B do not get along with each other, we can say the *guanxi* of A and B is sour) or "personal connection" (for example, if a person has many social connections, we can say he has a lot of *guanxi*).

Guanxi's relationship-based orientation predetermines that the research of *guanxi* would be flawed if no historical context is taken into consideration. This is primarily because personal relationships are also dynamic and subject to societal changes. China, as is commonly known, has witnessed many great upheavals in its society, i.e. from a feudal society to a half-feudal/half-colonial society, to a highly centrally-controlled Communist society, to the present market-economy-based, yet still tightly controlled Communist society. These transitions have had the inevitable consequences of invoking changes in inter-personal relationships in Chinese society. Therefore the study of *guanxi* shall begin with the discussion of the social events in Chinese society that lead to the transformations of inter-personal relationships.

THE DEVELOPMENT OF GUANXI IN CHINESE SOCIETY

Some Confucian Traditions

Being one of the most dominant philosophical schools, Confucianism is "concerned with the practical task of trying to establish a social hierarchy strong enough to harmonize a large and complex society of contentious human beings" (Luo1997a: 45). Through the codification of the societal rules, values and hierarchical structures of authority, Confucianism shaped Chinese society in a deep and extensive way. Instead of being viewed as an independent individual, a person, according to Confucianism, functions as a component of the whole social system. A person's proper role and position in his social environment is defined by lun, the Confucian word referring to social order. Fei (1992: 65) traces the meaning of lun back to the ancient text Shiming (The Interpretation of Names) where it was defined as "the order existing in ripples of water." He further points out that "Social relationships in China possess a self-centered quality. Like the ripples formed from a stone thrown into a lake, each circle spreading out from the center becomes more distant and at the same time more insignificant...lun stresses differentiation...Everyone should stay in his place; thereby, fathers are differentiated from sons, those remote from those close, those who are intimate from those who are not" (ibid).

Lun's emphasis on differentiation has been recognized by many other sociologists too. In his paper, which searches for a sociological interpretation of *guanxi* and network building, King (1991: 66) cited Pan (1948) as saying "the Confucian concept of *lun* is

basically concerned with two problems: the kind of differentiation to be made between individuals, and the kind of relations to be established between individuals." According to King (ibid), these two concerns determine that the social order perceived by Confucius rests on differentiation rather than homogeneity. Zheng (1984: 54 qtd. in Yang 1994: 149) also notes, "[*Lun* distinguishes] between inside and outside, and between relationships of closeness and distance. [This order] was opposed to a universalized humaneness and love."

Among numerous types of relationships, there are five that attract the attention of Confucius. They are the so-called *wu lun*, the five kinds of social orders described in Confucian terminology: ruler-subject, father-son, husband-wife, elder-younger brothers, and friend-friend. The tenors of the above five types of relationship can be respectively summarized as: loyalty, obedience, distinction, order and trust. Yang (1993:29 qtd. in Tsui and Farh 1997: 60) describes *wu lun* as "a highly formalistic cultural system... [requiring] each actor to perform his role in such a way that he should precisely say what he was supposed to say, and not to say what he was not supposed to say."

In such a social system, a person's self-identity is formed through his perception of the type of relationship he has with others. Based on the type of the relationship, the actor is supposed to fulfill his corresponding role expectations. This results in the Chinese inclination to divide people into categories and treat them differently. As for how the Chinese conception of "individual self versus others" differs from that of the westerners, Butterfield (1982: 44) has the following observations:

I began to appreciate how differently Chinese order their mental universe than do Westerners. We tend to see people as individuals; we make some distinctions, of course, between those we know and those we don't. But basically we have one code of manners for all... Chinese, on the other hand, instinctively divide people into those with whom they already have a fixed relationship, a connection, what the Chinese all call *guan-xi*, and those they don't. These connections operate like a series of invisible threads, tying Chinese to each other with far greater tensile strength than mere friendship in the West would do.

Wu lun can be further understood by observing what is not included in its principles. The five types of relationship postulated in *wu lun* only apply to in-group members. In other words, the "ripples" where out-group members stay are so far away from the ego self that there are barely any connection existing between the two parties. As Tsui and Farh (1997: 61) pointed out, "As part of the emphasis on differentiated relationships, attention to others in China is highly selective and is most characteristic of relationships with in-group members."

Besides having influence on the socio-cultural arena, Confucian social order also served as the theoretical groundwork for the hierarchical political structure in ancient China. According to Confucianism, the state is a huge family and the political relationship between the ruler and the subject is an extension of that between the father and son. According to *wu lun*, a son should observe obedience to his father. In the same sense, a subject is supposed to be compliant to the ruler; in return, the ruler shall rule the state with a compassionate and caring approach, based on hierarchy, just as the father treats the son. Thus, in imperial China the family served as a training camp where individuals, from very young age, unconsciously learn the political structure of the bigger society and subsequently become part of it. The structural similarity between the family and the nation is illustrated in *Great Learning (Da Xue)*, one of the main books that teach Confucian philosophy. In the book, it is written, "Those who wish to rule the country, first rule their family well." As Sangwha (1999: 13) notes, "The Confucian principle of extending one's feelings towards seniors in a family, of loyalty to a ruler, developed into the notion of 'loyalty and filial piety,' and served as the ideology of the ruling class during the long history of China." Therefore, through "politicization of family and familialization of the state," Confucius realized the asserted "social harmony" (Li 1991: 72).

However, the order and harmony achieved in this way can only be maintained by sacrificing an unbiased legal system. The political guideline advocated by Confucius is contributive to "the general aversion to law and litigation in Confucian societies" (Yeung and Tung 1996: 56). C. K. Yang (1959) finds that officialdom in imperial China was always torn between the conflicting ethics of "universalistic value-orientation" derived from bureaucratic impersonalism on one hand, and Confucian "particularism" and "nepotism" on the other. Unlike the Western notion of an independent legal system, the imperial bureaucracy of China was threaded through with kinship-like relations of obligation and indebtedness between officials and the people and among officials themselves (Yang 1994: 150). This orientation among Chinese imperial bureaucrats is considered by some scholars as a revelation of "a lack of respect for law, regulations, and for the concept of everyone being equally subject to universal standards of law and morality" (Gold 1985: 662).

Another impact of Confucianism on China's imperial political hierarchy resulted from the concept that the whole nation could be considered a big family. The national law is therefore the equivalent of "family law," which is subject to personal interpretation of the head of the "big family." As noted by Yeung and Tung (1996: 56), the person who occupies the position of authority has the power of influence in the sense that "an individual defines what is permissible in a given context at a particular time." The person in authority is likely to be targeted for *guanxi* cultivation because he has the sole power to interpret the law/regulation he represents. Good *guanxi* with such representatives may bring to the average people some extra benefits. For example, a person who has committed some offense can use this *guanxi* to reduce the penalty to which they might be subject. This practice is the traditional foundation of the later "backdoor" practices rampant during the early economic reform period. This topic will be discussed more thoroughly later in the paper.

Comradeship

The Confucian philosophy ranging from the "particularistic ties" among kinsmen and friends to the principles devoted for a "harmonious" society were labeled "feudal residue" and underwent severe attack in the Communist era. Numerous political campaigns and social movements were introduced to remold the traditional values and orientations of the Chinese people. Unlike previous intellectual criticism of traditional social relationships, and unlike previous reform movements, the Communists were in a position to attempt a radical transformation of the relationships between individuals and groups in society. According to many scholars (Vogel 1965; Yang 1994; Stockmen 2000) the Chinese Communist Party (CCP) to a great extent succeeded in transforming the traditional personal relationships characterized by kinship, friendship and other relationships based on "particularistic ties" into a universal morality – comradeship. In a sense, comradeship is an idea based on universal socialist values which were supposed to override those particularisms which existed in kinship and friendship. Every citizen was to be a fellow comrade, engaged in the common task of building a new social order, sharing the same will to combine their efforts in the common cause.

It has been recognized by scholars that the transformation of personal relations in China from "friendship" to "comradeship" was achieved by using "organization" to destroy and replace the institutional structure of the Chinese traditional social system (Vogel 1965; King 1991; Gold 1985). Walder (1983: 52) refers to this social phenomenon as "organized dependency," which is "the institutional position of subordinates with regard to superiors in an organization." He further points out that "the greater the proportion of the subordinates' needs that is satisfied by the organization, the greater is the subordinates' dependence on the organization. The fewer the alternative sources for satisfying these needs, the more dependent are subordinates" (ibid).

In urban areas, people were assigned to work in "work units" (*dan wei*) such as factory, school, office, store, or hospital. The work unit was not merely a place where an individual made a living and collected family income. It was, according to Walder (1986: 16), "a position that establishes the worker's social identity and rights to specific distributions and welfare entitlements provided by the states." Walder (ibid) gives a comprehensive picture of the dependent relationship of state employees on state enterprises (work units).

State-owned enterprises not only provide complete health insurance and pensions, they also provide direct medical care in their own facilities or in an attached hospital; they are the main source for housing; they provide loans, subsidies, child care, meal services, and, sometimes, education; and they are an important source for the procurement of certain consumer goods...The enterprise is also a source of certain sociopolitical services peculiar to the communist setting: obtaining official certificates of permission to travel, to take another job, to get local residence registration for a relative or spouse; or interventions with public agencies for housing, for higher quality medical care or medications, or to lessen the punishment for a criminal offense - to give only some common examples.

In addition, once an employee was assigned to a work unit there was almost no realistic chance of obtaining a transfer to another one. In other words, one's lifelong association with their work unit ended only with death. As Yang (1994: 42) concludes, "Urban China, along with Eastern Europe and the Soviet Union, took the shape of the Stalinist 'mono-organizational society,' in which 'most activities are directly managed by innumerable organizations or bureaucracies, all of which are linked up in a single organizational system' of the state." Work units were part of this "China of organization" (Schurmann 1970 qtd. in King 1991). Supervisors and workshop officials in different work units were part of the national bureaucracy. In addition to the direction of production, they were also in charge of most of the administrative and personnel matters.

Shop officials stress requests for factory housing and special distributions of consumer items. They review and approve requests for benefits under state labor insurance guidelines: vacations, annual home leave, personal leave, visits to sanatoria, special medications, and welfare and loan payments. Shop supervisors are also responsible for writing character reports, relaying information to the party and security apparatus, securing permission for workers to travel, and deciding on the application of fines and other punishments for breaches of factory rules (Walder 1986: 22).

Yan (1996: 236) refers to this "irony" as "a movement from destratification to restratification." The "destratification" dismantled the old social system and traditional authorities, while at the same time the "restratification" gave rise to the new type of authority—socialist bureaucrats, who represented the laws and regulations of the new

17

socialist government. This group of bureaucrats, the new elite, had the direct control over necessities and various kinds of administrative and personnel matters. Their power was entrusted by the state under the idealistic slogan, "serve the people." As Yan (ibid) puts it, "...in countries dominated by state socialism experiments originally aimed at social equality ultimately result in the creation of new forms of inequality and new concentrations of power." Gold (1986) refers to this as "neo-traditionalism."

In such a society, one would normally expect to find that satisfaction of the social and economic needs of common workers would be highly dependent on having a good personal relationship with the officials. However, according to many scholars (Yang 1994: Gold 1985; King 1991), the "organized dependency" and political uncertainty did not lead to a flourishing of common *guanxi* practices, such as gift-giving in particular, in exchange for life comfort and political security in the early communist years of the 1950s. Therefore it is reasonable to assume that even though economic goods and social services were still in dearth and the state bureaucrats were in a position that gave them the possibility to exchange their authority for personal gain, the social, structural and ideological transformation of that time was so overwhelming that it purged any irregular practices from people's mind. To a great extent, the revolution succeeded in creating new socialist men for the new socialist society in which personal relationships were characterized as pure and simple.

Because gift-giving was condemned as a "feudal residual" and the root for corruption, this most frequently employed technique for cultivating *guanxi* was extremely curtailed at that time. In turn, another form of *guanxi* emerged, which Walder (1983: 69) terms as "patron-client relations," which was "distinct from a purely institutional relationship." Such relationships were found in state enterprises between "active" workers and the leaders. The leaders depended heavily on the support of activists and 'backbones' to do his or her job well; the activists, in turn, received consistently favorable performance evaluations from the leaders, which "may create an opportunity for promotion later on" (ibid). In this type of *guanxi* relationship, workers' loyalty to the leader was exchanged for economic and political rewards.

Cultural Revolution

The Cultural Revolution, launched by Chairman Mao originally aimed to eradicate the remnant "Rightists" in the Party, soon turned the whole nation into anarchy. The 1966 - 1976 massive, all-inclusive political campaigns pushed the national economy to the edge of collapse as everyday production was abandoned and replaced with criticism meetings, mass struggles and public demonstrations. The economic disarray caused by the Cultural Revolution brought about a shortage of necessary goods and services. Moreover, the penetration of the state into all aspects of personal and private life, and its control over the allocation of all scarce resources, compelled average people to look for irregular channels to satisfy their legitimate social and economic needs. As a result, people in need relied on establishing *guanxi* with the bureaucratic officials or others who could provide these things.

Despite the unabashed ideological rhetoric on public or proletarian morality during this period, the social order and public civility were seriously eroded. Children were incited to denounce their parents. Husbands and wives accused each other for their own survival. One might be accused by one's intimate friend as "counterrevolutionary." Schools were abandoned and teachers were violently persecuted by Red Guard mobs in "mass struggles." Many scholars (Yang 1994; Stockman 2000; Gold 1985) hold that the policy of sending urban youth down to the countryside marked the re-emergence of *guanxi* practice. To avoid being sent down to the countryside, many youths, and their parents, were engaged in cultivating good *guanxi* with school leaders. After being sent down, in order to avoid toil in the countryside and return earlier to the cities, youths, and their parents, cultivated good *guanxi* with team leaders and local bureaucrats.

The degradation of the social morale, along with the scarcity of most of necessities and resources, spawned a quick revival of *guanxi* cultivation. Shop directors, department leaders, cafeteria employees, factory doctors, officials in the general affairs departmentvirtually anyone in a position to hand out favors, grant leaves, give work unit permission for further education, marriage, birth-giving, and many other things became a target for *guanxi* cultivation. *Guanxi* was utilized to get things done, from simple tasks to facilitating major life choices. In order to have one's social and economic needs satisfied, an individual required connections to everyone from store clerks, who controlled scarce commodities, to cadres who had final say over such things as housing allotment, residence permits, job assignments and political evaluations needed for Youth League or Party membership. As Yang (1994: 147) concludes, "...in the aftermath of the Cultural Revolution, *guanxi* practices and *guanxi* awareness have both increased at an accelerated rate."

In short, *guanxi* practice originally emerged as a socio-cultural resonation of Confucian philosophy, was very much curtailed when the universal ethic of comradeship

20

took control and blossomed when the socialist ethic was abandoned after the Cultural Revolution. If the second wave of the development of *guanxi* practice is like the growth of a plant, the socialist political system established after 1949 provided only the soil whereas the destruction of social order during the Cultural Revolution was the air, the sun and the water that actually fostered the growth.

Rural Areas

Although most research has been conducted studying the practice of *guanxi* in urban areas, *guanxi* has a longer and more dominant tradition in rural areas. Rural societies have been widely recognized as more traditional than urban cities in terms of social norms, values and practices. In this sense, *guanxi* practice should be even more pervasive in rural areas than in cities, because kinship ties and other kinds of "particularistic" ties are more entrenched in rural societies where a tradition of exchange of labor, mutual aid and obligation has always been dominant. Thus the question becomes: did the political and social movement launched by the Communists weaken this tradition? The answer is "yes" and "no."

The 1950s' Land Reform and the subsequent social movements and political campaigns fundamentally transformed the Chinese rural society, socially and economically. During this period of time, village cadres designated by the Communist Party occupied the top level in the system of social stratification in rural areas.

In terms of economic resources, cadres controlled villagers by distributing basic grain rations, assigning daily work, supervising the development of family sidelines, and granting social welfare...During the radical period,

21

villagers also had to ask cadres for leave to attend all social activities outside the collective, such as visiting relatives or going to nearby marketplace. Unlike the local officials or landlords in the pre-revolutionary period, the cadres were completely in charge of people's daily life (Yan 1996: 163).

These cadres were responsible for running the collectives² and controlled the distribution of material goods as well as life opportunities. They enjoyed considerable political power, economic advantage, and social privilege within their bailiwicks.

During earlier years of the Communist regime (1950s- 1970s), rural-urban migration without official permission was legally banned. Government restrictions on rural-urban migration further confined villagers within the collectives and thereby increased the power of the local cadres. Informants of Yang (1994) reported that during 1960s to 1970s a peasant had to maintain good relations with rural brigade or production team leaders through guanxi-cultivating practices such as gift-giving, invitations to wedding feasts, and so forth, so that the peasant might be assigned lighter and easier work or receive better work evaluations. At the time of the Land Reform, rural residents were assigned a class label in accordance with their economic status and occupation. The labels included "poor peasant," "middle-class peasant," "rich peasant," and "landlord." "Poor peasants" were considered to be the most "oppressed" and "exploited" so they were entitled to upward social mobility. Landlords were brought to struggle sessions, and most of their property was confiscated and redistributed among the poor. Both "rich peasants" and "landlords" were regarded as class enemies therefore were discriminated against politically, socially and economically.

² As a part of the Land Reform, villages were reorganized into collectives. Each collective contains a certain number of households.

The redistribution of the land from the former landlords to the peasants, however, did not completely change the traditional way in which the peasants had learned to live. In terms of production, a basic production unit called a "production team" was composed of thirty to forty households. These households were either kinsmen or immediate neighbors and were engaged in the "collective farming" under the supervision of the Party cadres. As Whyte and Parish (1978: 301) put it, "old affinities help create new kinds of cooperation" for the peasant, as "the people with whom he goes to the fields every day and with whom profits and losses are shared at the end of the year are old neighbors and kinsmen."

Unlike urban state-employed workers who received state pensions and free medical care, rural residents had almost no access to pensions and had to fund medical expenses out of their own pockets. Peasants had to still depend on their own family and immediate neighbors to have various kinds of social needs satisfied. As Whyte and Parish (ibid) put it, "Chinese rural organization is in many ways a compromise between a bureaucratic system imposed from above and a natural system of villages, lineages, and neighborhoods." In other words, even though many political and social reforms were brought up with an intention of replacing the traditional norms and values from the pre-revolutionary era, the communist revolution did not substantially reduce the importance of traditional values such as kinship and mutual reciprocity in Chinese rural societies. Instead, it incorporated these traditional aspects of rural society into the social restructuring process.

Economic Reform and Market Economy

Beginning in 1978, the Chinese Communist Party turned its focus from class struggle to developing productive forces. The reforms were mainly confined in economic sectors while leaving the overall political structure mostly untouched. Therefore, what resulted from the Reform is a market-oriented economy and Communism-based polity where government officials still enjoy various political and administrative powers and privileges. Taking the agricultural sector as an example, after the decollectivization, individual villagers, now as independent farmers have to deal with all kinds of problems of agricultural production, from the purchasing of seeds to the selling of grain (Yan 1994). Cadres at all levels in the state sector still hold redistributive powers (ibid).

One of the primary goals of the economic reform was to create a thriving private business sector. It was during this period of time that business-related *guanxi* relationships emerged and developed quickly as the economic reform started penetrating into every corner of social life. On one side, business people wanted to get their project on track with the least bureaucratic hurdles and were willing to pay their way out. On the other side, government bureaucrats had the control over every step of business activities, such as granting a license of operation, supply of raw material, tax collection and auditing. Vogel (1989: 409) refers to these kinds of government bureaucrats as "gatekeepers." Since "gatekeepers" had the very power to open or close the "gates," good *guanxi* relationships with "gatekeepers" became the highest priority for businesses.

With the development of the national economy and the increase of consumer goods in the market, public officials as well as average people passionately sought goods and

24

resources that had long been denied to them. When the Maoist worldview tumbled, and the idea of sacrificing self interest for public good lost its meaning, the moral basis for resisting material temptation was eroded. What left was the pursuit for individual wealth as "there is little material foundation in existence or being established for an overarching, lofty common goal" Gold (1985: 670). Such a moral vacuum, together with the temptation of the material goods, the personal power of government officials, the openedup economy eager for investment, easily led to corruption.

Between expressive gifts to friends and blatant bribery, there was a large gray area in which the giving of small gifts and favors to officials at all levels was acceptable, and remains so. According to Vogel (1989), the offering of gifts and favors to keep up good relationships is so rooted in Chinese society that the scope of what is considered proper has always been larger than in many Western societies. Banquets to which a large number of people are invited, New Year's gifts, gifts of cigarettes and liquor when visiting, and paying for hotel and other services for visiting Chinese have been so common that, within bounds, they are considered not corruption but acts of kindness (ibid). This gray area is where business-related guanxi is cultivated. Such guanxi relationships are usually cultivated over a period of time through series of socialization. The parties often refer to each other as their friends. Such business-related guanxi relationships are a unique outcome of the intersection between a socialist planning and organization system and a partially opened market. Yang (1994: 167) puts this scenario in the following way:

An important consequence of the encounter between *guanxi* and commodity/money relationships is the effect that each has on the other. On the one hand, when money and *guanxi* are mixed together, the art of

25

guanxi personalizes an otherwise impersonal money transaction. On the other hand, the art of *guanxi* is also altered in its basic raison d'étre as its very structure and form become commoditized into a shadow of money exchange.

The market economy brings opportunities, but the economic environment is still far from being perfect. The economy is still characterized by undeveloped market structures and institutional instability which make market exchanges uncertain and costly. Meanwhile, a well-defined legal framework has also been lacking. In this sense, the political and economic environment was exposed to uncertainty. Kiong and Kee's (1998: 91) survey with Chinese business firms located in Singapore and Malaysia suggests that "where there is general distrust due to great uncertainty in the environment, stemming from unreliable legal, political, commercial and other institutions, there will be greater reliance on personal relations to buffer one from wider insecurities." Yeung and Tung's³ (1996) survey also proves that the importance of guanxi can be attributed to the ambiguity of Chinese legislation. Guanxi, therefore, in the new economic environment serves as a buffer zone to protect the individual engaged in business activities against the uncertainty of the environment in which the legal safeguards of a true market economy is lacking.

³ Yeung and Tung's survey was conducted among 19 companies located in Hong Kong (11), U. S.(5), Canada (1), Germany (1) and Sweden (1). The companies were engaged in a diverse range of industries and services. These companies employ between four and over 10,000 people in China.

Chapter III- Social Exchange in *Guanxi* Practice

The two literal meanings of *guanxi*—interpersonal relationships and personal connections—both denote a process of social interaction: interpersonal relationships are formed through social interaction; personal connections are established through social interaction. Social interactions between individuals, according to Homans (in Coser and Rosenberg 1976: 72), is "an exchange of goods, material and nonmaterial."

In The Gift (27), Mauss describes several types of exchanges in the tribal societies where he made his observation. One of these was the exchange of goods, which took place between tribes specializing in different kinds of labors: an agricultural tribe might exchange their produce with a maritime tribe for ocean products. A similar form of exchange can be found in guanxi relationships. For example, neighbor A is very good at making dumplings. Neighbor A sometimes offers neighbor B the dumplings he makes. Neighbor B is skilled at making pancakes, and presents A with his pancakes from time to time. The exchange between the two neighbors is of the same fashion as that found by Mauss in the tribal societies. However, there is a difference. Neighbor A and B do not need to engage themselves in the dumpling-pancake exchange because both items can be purchased in the market. The exchange activities between neighbor A and B are beyond pure economic need. They provide the opportunity for neighbor A and B to develop their personal ties, as Radcliffe-Brown (1964: 83) puts it, "The purpose of the exchange is primarily a moral one; to bring about a friendly feeling between the two persons who participate." Moreover, the inter-tribe exchange discovered by Mauss was basically an economic activity. The tribes had no choice but to engage in the exchange with other tribes if they wanted to consume what was not produced by their own tribe.

Another type of exchange observed by Mauss took the form of "display," which was "a great and frequent distribution of food...made to groups that have given their services to the chief [of the tribe] or to his clan" (Mauss 1967: 27-28). This practice echoes the banquet-favor exchange in *guanxi* relationships where a banquet in honor of the helper is held in exchange for a favor. The difference between the exchange in *guanxi* relationships and the exchange in the tribal society that Mauss studied is that the former is carried out on an inter-personal level, while the latter took place on a collective level.

Gifts, favors and banquets are the "goods, material and nonmaterial" of the exchange in *guanxi* relationships. There is no definite rule in terms of which item (gift/ favor/ banquet) should be given in exchange for another item (gift/ favor/ banquet); the choice is rather contextual and contingent. Favors and banquets can be considered variances of gift: when a gift comes in the form of services, it is called a favor; when it comes in the form of free distributions of food and drink, it is called a banquet or feast. As the gift is the material basis on which a *guanxi* relationship is formed, the study of *guanxi* lends itself to the theoretical tradition of gift relationship, which constitutes an exchange relationship based on obligation and reciprocity. Mauss (1967: 6) argues that the obligation to make return gifts is socially imposed "under the penalty of losing the *mana* (prestige), authority and wealth." As for reciprocity, Blau (in Coser and Rosenberg 1976: 78) writes, "If we feel grateful and obligated to an associate for favors received, we shall seek to reciprocate his kindness by doing things for him. He in turn is likely to

reciprocate, and the resulting mutual exchange of favors strengthens, often without explicit intent, the social bond between us."

Common sense tells us that in society, there are always two kinds of individuals, "conformers" and "deviates." Conformity, according to Homans (in Coser and Rosenberg 1976: 76), is "behavior that coincides to a degree with some group standard or norm." He further defines "norm" as "a verbal description of behavior that many members find it valuable for the actual behavior of themselves and others to conform to" (ibid). Empirical study proves that, as the members of a group come to see another member as a deviate, they will first try to change his behavior; if the deviate, by failing to change his behavior, fails to "reinforce" the other members, they will start to "withhold social approval from him," which will finally lead to the social isolation of the deviate from other members of the group (ibid).

When the above theory is applied to gift relationship, people who are engaged in the relationship can similarly be broadly classified into the two categories of "conformers," who carefully abide by the norms of obligation and reciprocity; and "deviates," who do not behave in line with the norms. According to the above theory, the conformers will continue to function in the relationship while the deviates face the peril of being excluded from the relationship. The theory works in a similar way in the practice of *guanxi*, though through a different conceptual mechanism. The term used in *guanxi* relationships to refer to social norms is *renqing*, roughly translated as the obligation of human sentiment, which will be discussed at length later in this chapter. *Renqing* not only includes the ethical values of obligation and reciprocity, it also requires individuals to be considerate of other people's feelings and treat each other nicely. *Guanxi* practitioners

29

have to comply with *renqing*, otherwise, they, like the "deviates," may be ostracized from the relationship, and hence will be subjected to the social sanction of *diu mianzi*, literally translated as the loss of face. In Chinese culture, the loss of face is a serious humiliation for the ego.

Though the imperatives such as *renging* and *mianzi* (face) seem to make the maintenance of guanxi relationships a somewhat burdensome experience, guanxi relationships also bear many personal elements, which make the experience filled with warm and friendly feelings. Guanxi relationships are maintained through socializations such as mutual visits, greetings and dinners. Chinese Lunar New Year, weddings, birthdays and baby-birth are the big times for socializations among families and friends, where gifts are exchanged/offered and banquets are held. These occasions and the activities held at the occasions mirror the gift relationships discovered by anthropologists in other cultures. Mauss (1967: 6) records that gift exchange in Samoa society was carried out during times of marriage, childbirth, circumcision, sickness, girls' puberty and funeral ceremonies. Radcliffe-Brown (1964: 80) reports that the Andaman Islander carried out voluntary-obligatory "inter-group hospitality"-filled gift exchange at visits, festivals and fairs. As Lévi-Strauss (in Coser and Rosenberg 1976: 62) puts it, "Gift exchange is a universal code of culture, although not equally developed everywhere."

In addition to the ethical values, a gift relationship is also tinged with utilitarianism. Goods in a gift relationship "are not only economic commodities, but vehicles and instruments for realities of another order: influence, power, sympathy, status, emotion; and the skillful game of exchange consists of a complex totality of maneuvers, conscious or unconscious, in order to gain security and to fortify one's self against risks incurred through alliances and rivalry" (Lévi-Strauss in Coser and Rosenberg 1976: 63). Gifts, favors and banquets in *guanxi* relationships, in addition to their expressive purposes and considerations of complying with the corresponding social norms or *renqing*, are offered with practical purposes such as to guard oneself against political/ economic insecurity or to obtain more power in making one's life choices according to one's own will. These practical considerations, intertwined with the expressive and ethical elements, direct the flow of the exchange of gifts, favors and banquets, which according to Yang (1994: 126), is "a fundamental and inalienable part of the nature and process of *guanxi*."

GIFTS AND FAVORS IN GUANXI PRACTICE

Gifts

Gifts are characterized from other kinds of products by their expressiveness. Unlike commodities, they are not purchased mostly for their utilitarian value, but for their capability to make a nice presentation. That is why we have gift shops and colorful wrapping paper to make our gifts look pretty. Though most sociologists admit that gifts have both expressive and utilitarian dimensions, when it comes to the study of gift relationship, sociologists tend to focus on those gifts that make beautiful presentations, especially those that have no practical value. The classical tradition of relating gifts with religion and myth argues that the gift is part of its original owner and will never be alienated from its owner; the receiver never owns the gift completely. This belief naturally lends the study of gifts to non-consumable objects. It is much easier to explain how a beautiful vase represents the person who gave it as a gift, and remains a spiritual legacy of that person, than it is to apply the same reasoning to a loaf of bread. It seems that gifts such as the vase are more gift-like than gifts such as the loaf of bread, which have some practical usage and are meant to be consumed in daily life.

In his classic account of the Kula ring in Melanesia, Malinowski (1961) concentrated on gifts such as shell bracelets and necklaces that have no "practical" value because the Kula is a system of exchange of prestige items. Mauss (1967) reached the same conclusion that the most important things exchanged in the Kula ring are *mwali*, the finely cut and polished arm-shells, and the soulava, necklaces for women made from red spondylus shell (Mauss 1967: 21). Even though there was another exchange system known as gimwali in which useful goods are exchanged in a rather straightforward way and with less rituals, Mauss chose not to focus on it. These two classical anthropological studies of gift relationship laid the foundation for future studies of gift relationship in their tendency to discriminate against the examination of gifts that have practical value and are meant to be physically consumed through daily life. Therefore it is not surprising for Lévi-Strauss to assert that "...there are certain kinds of objects which are especially well suited for presents, precisely because of their non-utilitarian qualities...It is commonly understood that in our society that certain goods of a non-essential consumption value, but to which we attach a great psychological aesthetic or sensual value, such as flowers, candies and luxury articles" (in Coser and Rosenberg 1976: 63-64).

The research orientation of preferring non-practical objects meets tremendous challenge in the practice of *guanxi*. Gifts exchanged in *guanxi* practice encompass a spectrum of objects ranging from practical daily consumables to high-valued goods. Yang's (1994) field research in Beijing during the early 1980s found that, "...the kinds of gifts given in anticipation of or in return for favors range from a simple bag of fruit or a chicken to an expensive stereo, color TV, or refrigerator." During Yang's stay in China, China's economy was still recovering from the economic disaster which resulted from the Cultural Revolution. At that time a bag of fruit or a chicken was considered special and many electronic consumer goods were conceived as rarities.

The kinds of gifts change as the social and economic conditions change in China. Since the economic reforms in the late 1980s, the living standard of Chinese people has been improved significantly. As a result, once rare items such as color TVs or refrigerators have become affordable for common people. In current times, even though small items such as a basket of fruit or candy can still be offered as gifts, they are not as impressive as they were years ago. At the same time, many new kinds of gifts are witnessing ascendancy. One of them is the gift card, which is essentially a debit card with certain amount of money in it. The ascendancy of the gift card can be attributed to three factors. First, in terms of usage, it is no different than cash. The gift recipient has the total freedom to purchase a desired item, which, unlike previous times, is likely to be available in the market. Second, the gift giver saves time and energy that would normally be spent on choosing an appropriate gift. Because of these two factors, the use of such a device prevents the situation where an improper gift dampens the exchange. Third, gift cards tend to be very well printed, and with aesthetic values, therefore satisfying the traditional societal requirement on the way a gift ought to look.

Even though objects with practical monetary value, or items for daily consumption, can be used as gifts, money is seldom presented as a gift to establish or maintain *guanxi*. The preference of gifts to money lies in the fundamental difference between money and gifts in terms of medium of exchange. In general, anthropologists and sociologists understand that gifts as a medium of exchange involve some elements of interpersonal dependence—the giver of a gift is "inalienable" from the goods or service. A *guanxi* relationship, being an interpersonal relationship that is characterized by the "particularistic" tie, must contain the personal elements that bond the involved parties. Gifts therefore are naturally employed as the exchange medium in the practice of *guanxi*.

To a certain extent, China still bears the feature of a "kin-based collectivity" where "the work group is usually some form of hierarchically structured cooperative group" (Bell 1991: 165). In such a relation-based society, the relationships of an individual with other individuals, and of a group with other groups, are "critical to the well-being of the social unit" (ibid). According to Bell, in such a society "social relations" are formed through a "gift-economy." Fei (1976: 242) regards the type of transfer of goods in a gift exchange is "significant not in making up mutual deficiency but in strengthening social ties."

The key feature of a commodity exchange according to Gregory (1982:41) is that "commodities are exchanged strictly in relation to other commodities without any implied residual obligations or relationships between the people involved." Mead (1934) argues that in a commodity exchange, by thinking in terms of prices, people are identifying with all potential buyers and sellers. As a result, "social relations" are replaced by "economic relations." While the former is personal and "particularistic," the latter is impersonal and universal. Money is recognized for its role in commodity exchange, and the use of money may be perceived as an escalation of *guanxi* exchange "from the socially and legally tolerable to the more dangerous and unambiguously illegal realm of bribery and corruption" (Yang 1994: 129).

Favors

Zou hou men, which means "going through the back door," is perhaps the most distinctive and socially-recognized guanxi-based social exchange in Chinese society. Instead of following the bureaucratic process to get certain things done, people will seek to use their personal connections with those who have the power to accomplish the same ends. The practice reached its climax during the mid-1980s when the Chinese society underwent a historical transformation from Mao's revolutionary society to Deng's market-economy-oriented society. Many scholars (Walder 1986; Shaw 1996) attribute the emergence of this practice to the prolonged economic shortages and the state monopoly over resources during the past several decades. The resources could have been anything. They may have been the coupons allocated every month to local residents by the state, granting residents the right to purchase certain goods. They could have come in the form of a desired job or a needed apartment. Without a free market, the access to resources was extremely limited. Under this situation, zou hou men became a normal way for people to gain access to the resources that are otherwise out of their reach.

Since 1987, China has slowly changed from a highly centrally-controlled economy to market-oriented economy. As this transformation has gotten underway, a lot more goods and services have become available in the free market. However, the enrichment of the consumer goods and services did not necessarily entail the abandonment of the *zou hou men* practice. Under the new circumstances, the practice is employed to circumvent the bureaucratic procedures, which usually consume much time and energy. It is an unwritten social wisdom that the "back door" is a detour to get things done more quickly, easily and smoothly.

The practice usually takes place between parties who have *guanxi* with each other. In this case, gifts may or may not be offered in exchange for a favor. There are three possibilities. First, if the person who needs the favor has done a similar favor⁴ for the other person, then it is the time for the other person to repay that favor, therefore a gift is not necessary. Second, if the return favor demands much more time, energy and effort than the original favor, a gift is usually presented to fill the gap. Third, if neither party owes the other any favor, to initiate an exchange, a gift is needed. Even though there is some instrumentalism in the exchange, the exchange is still relation-based. This is because the pre-existing "particularistic" tie is the prerequisite for the exchange to take place, and also because the gift, though is utilized to obtain the service from the other, is at the same time aimed to achieve a more close and intensive personal tie.

The practice of *zou hou men* can also take place between people who have no preexisting *guanxi* connection with each other. If so, a middle-man who knows both the

⁴ By calling it "a similar favor," I mean the return favor requires similar amount of time, energy and effort as the original favor.

exchange parties usually is needed to facilitate the exchange. A middle man's role ranges from arranging the meeting where the gift is presented to communicating with the two parties and forwarding the gift. Due to the lack of the "particularistic" tie between the actual exchange parties, the exchange bears a lot more instrumentalism. The return favor in general, even though is not immediate, takes much shorter time than a pure gift exchange which only seeks to establish the personal ties. In such an exchange, the gift is transformed into a "quasi-commodity" (Yan 1994: 219). The purpose of the exchange is fulfilled by maximizing personal interests. In this sense, the transaction bears the characteristics of commodity economy, i.e. rational and impersonal. There might be a personal tie developed between the actual exchange parties after the transaction, but not necessarily. Like in business world, two persons may become friends after conducting business with each other but the purpose of their original social interaction is not only to become each other's friends.

The favors offered in a *guanxi* relationship may be mutually beneficial or unidirectional as long as the helping party does not suffer any loss from the relationship, and knows he can rely on the other party in time of need. The favors in this sense are a kind of social investment which one can resort to in case of need. Since in most cases, a person never knows when he will need help, he will tend to avoid exhausting the balance sheet of favors owed to him.

RENQING and **MIANZI**

Renqing

In addition to gifts and favors, there is another item to be exchanged in *guanxi* relationships. It is known as *renqing*. This phrase is composed of two characters: Λ , written in pinyin as *ren* and pronounced the same, and ff, written in pinyin as *qing* and pronounced like "ching." "*Ren*" literally means human being, while the essential meaning of *qing* is sentiment. Taken as a whole, *renqing* basically means human sentiment. Yang (1994: 67) regards *renqing* as "part of the intrinsic character of human nature...[which] in terms of social relationships and interactions, is taken to be naturally infused with affect or *qing*." Like Confucianism, Yang notes that the concept of *renqing* can be traced back to ancient times, relating its origins to the Han Dynasty which began in 206 B.C.E.

The assumption that underlies *renqing* is that because human nature is inherently good, therefore people engaging in social interaction should treat each other with thoughtfulness and affective sentiments. A person who is able to show consideration to other people is considered "knowing *renqing*." On the contrary, a person who is indifferent to other people's feelings of happiness or sadness is deemed as "not knowing *renqing*" or "lacking *renqing*." According to Yang (1994: 68):

To accuse someone of "lacking human feeling" (*meiyou renqing*) is tantamount to saying that he or she does not exhibit the natural affect and feelings of attachments and obligations to other people. It questions whether a person is morally worthy of being called human, whereas to behave according to renqing is to be a virtuous human or "to know how to act like a human" (*hui zuo ren*). *Renqing* plays a very important part in *guanxi* exchange. *Renqing*, the intangible human sentiments, is exchanged along with the concrete gifts and favors. By offering a gift or a favor, the donor also sends the receiver his affective sentiments toward him; by accepting a gift or a favor, the receiver is obligated to show back his positive sentiments towards the donor by presenting a return gift or delivering a favor. Therefore, a *guanxi* relationship, if perceived by outsiders, is nothing but infinite exchanges of gifts and favors; but for insiders, what really count are the *renqing* sentiments that are expressed through the continuous exchanges of gifts and favors. It is the *renqing* sentiments that

Like the gifts and favors exchanged in guanxi practice, renging is obligatorily reciprocal. This operational mechanism of *renging* can be demonstrated in the common expressions such as "owe someone a renging." Renging, in this context, has two layers of meaning. First, it connotes that an actual gift or favor has been provided and accepted. Second, it implies that the receiver, by sheer accepting the gift/favor, obliges himself to repay. By presenting a return gift or offering a return favor, the original receiver demonstrates his appreciation and affection toward the original donor who has shown his affective sentiments toward the original receiver by offering the gift/favor at the first place. As Hwang (1987: 946) notes, renging is "much more highly elaborated and more tightly bound up with ideas of reciprocity [in Chinese society] than it is in many other cultures." J. H. Weakland (1950: 365) has a similar observation: "The system of reciprocal aid in Chinese life - except within the circle of the family and very close friends where mutual help is at least assumed to occur with no question of exchange at all - is centered around the concept of *jén-ch'ing* (*renging*)." Yang (1994: 122) concludes

that a *guanxi* relationship is "embedded in the *renqing* formulation of human relations as an endless flow of interpersonal exchanges and reciprocal commitments."

At another level, *renqing* also represents socially accepted interpersonal behavior. As King (1988: 78 quoted in Yan 1996: 146) notes, "From a sociological point of view, the word *renqing* refers to interpersonal relations, namely, the ways of living with others." In a *guanxi* relationship, a person is expected to keep in touch with his *guanxi* contacts by greetings, visits, and gift/favor exchanges. In case of a misfortune, people involved in the same *guanxi* relationship are expected to show sympathy to or try to help out the individual who is in trouble. As Yang (1994: 122) puts it, *renqing* is "a matter of courtesy and observance of proper social form and etiquette."

Mianzi

Renqing principles are socially enforced through the notion of "face" in Chinese society, which in Chinese is referred to with either of the two terms, *lian* and *mianzi*. The first term, *lian*, is written in Chinese as \mathbb{B} , and pronounced like "li-en." The second term is a phrase composed of $\overline{\mathbb{H}}$, written in pinyin as *mian* and pronounced like "mi-en" and $\overrightarrow{\mathcal{F}}$, written in pinyin as *zi* and pronounced like "tzu." *Lian* and *mian* both essentially mean "face"; the *zi* placed at the end of *mianzi* has no independent meaning.

Hu (1944: 45) claims that the terms are distinct, and that the Chinese conception of "face" has two dimensions: "*Mien-tzu* [*mianzi*] stands for the kind of prestige that is emphasized in this country [America]: a reputation achieved through getting on in life,

through success and ostentation." "Face" at this dimension, is enhanced through wealth, power, and status, through cleverly establishing social ties to a number of prominent people, as well as through avoidance of acts that would cause unfavorable comment (ibid: 61). The other dimension ascribed by Hu (ibid), is "*lien* [*lian*]... the respect of the group for a man with a good moral reputation... the confidence of society in the integrity of ego's moral character" and "the respect of the group for a man...who under all circumstances shows himself a decent human being."

Ho (1976: 868) disagrees with Hu's characterization of the distinction between the terms lian and mianzi, arguing that "the meanings... vary according to verbal context and in addition are not completely differentiated from each other in that the terms are interchangeable in some contexts." Therefore, for the purposes of consistency and simplicity, *mianzi* will generally be used in this paper. According to the above definition, *mianzi* represents a comprehensive image of self delineated in terms of wealth, power, status, social connection and reputation. In addition to this qualitative aspect, mianzi is also quantitative. In accordance to the changes in the qualitative components of mianzi (wealth, power and status can increase or decrease; social connection can expand or shrink; reputation can get better or worse), a person's *mianzi* increases or decreases. We can say person A has more *mianzi* than person B or person A has less *mianzi* than before. Because *mianzi* is the outcome from the co-operation of all its components, even though quantitative change in one component will lead to the corresponding change in *mianzi*, given only the quantitative change in *mianzi*, it is impossible to tell which exact component has experienced change. However, a decrease in the amount of one component can have a wide impact on the other components, and will subsequently lead

to a decrease in a person's overall social standing. Such an experience is referred to by Chinese people as *diu mianzi* (loss of face).

Mianzi may be lost when a person loses his original wealth or status, or violates certain codified social practice. Taking the violation of codified social practice as an example, the violator's reputation will experience a decrease, which, may drive away some of his social contacts, who are unwilling to deal with someone with a deviant reputation. In this case, the sour reputation and shrinking social connection mark the experience of losing *mianzi*. At the social level, losing *mianzi* signifies a decrease in the social standing of the involved party; at the psychological level, due to the damage of the self image in the public eye, losing *mianzi* entails "an intense humiliation for the ego" (Hu 1944: 45). As Goffman (1955: 215) puts it, "Approved attributes and their relation to face make of every man his own jailer; this is a fundamental social constraint."

A person is not only responsible for his own *mianzi*, but also can lose or gain *mianzi* when people who are closely related to or associated with him lose or gain *mianzi* (Ho 1976: 867). The expression "my face is totally lost because of you" (*wo de lian bei ni diu jing le*) is often heard when someone's *mianzi* is damaged by someone else's behavior. Thus, a person must be concerned not only with his own *mianzi*, but also the *mianzi* of those who are closely associated with him, such as the person's family or close friends.

Renging, Mianzi and Guanxi

In the case of *guanxi* practice, *renqing* principles include the conduct that has been codified and customized by the society. A *guanxi* practitioner must comply with the *renqing* principles to avoid loss of *mianzi*, which often comes from "failure to observe the rules of conduct so that others saw one at a disadvantage" (Fairbank 1979: 135 quoted in Yan 1996: 137). Any breach of the customized principles or rituals, such as not rendering help to one's friends or a lack of gift-giving during special occasions, is a failure to perform adequately in the role as being a *guanxi* practitioner, and therefore will cause a loss of *mianzi* to the actor. The fear of losing *mianzi* compels the individual actor to behave in line with *renqing* principles, so as to maintain his favorable image and hence proper function in the *guanxi* relationship.

Mianzi is like a membership card for one's *guanxi* network, where the evaluations of the actor by others are perceived to be of significance to the maintenance of the actor's standing and adequate function in the network. This privilege is granted to the *guanxi* network member as recognition of his following the line defined by *renqing*. It is not irrevocable because "it is only on loan to him from society and will be withdrawn unless he conducts himself in a way that is worthy of it" (Goffman 1955: 215). The actor's concern in maintaining this membership card in good shape as long as he can drives him to develop sensitivity as to how he appears in the eyes of others, and a tendency to act in ways which meet their approval. As customized principles, *renqing*, is assured by the operation of *mianzi* as the standard behavioral code by which *guanxi* practitioners try to abide.

Renging's sentimental dimension has an impact on mianzi as well. According to renging, a person who has "renging" is not supposed to ignore the feelings of other people, but should instead respond properly based on renging principles. A failure to do so will incur a reputation of "not knowing renging," and hence a loss of mianzi. This scenario is very similar as what Goffman describes in "On Face-Work," where his argues "The person who can witness another's humiliation and unfeelingly retain a cool countenance himself is said in our society to be 'heartless'" (Goffman 1955: 215). According to Goffman, while preserving one's own face, a person, in order to avoid the reputation of being "heartless," is expected to "go to certain lengths to save the feelings and the face of others present...because of emotionally identification with the others and with their feelings" (ibid). Therefore, to maintain one's mianzi not only involves the compliance with the social practices based on *renging* principles, but also requires consideration and thoughtfulness for other people's feelings, which are directly related to their *mianzi*.

In addition to its role in enforcing *renqing* principles, *mianzi* also works independently in the practice of *guanxi*. As *mianzi* is closely related to a person's wealth, power and status, a person who has *mianzi* is in a position to exert "considerable influence, even control, over others in both direct and indirect ways" (Ho 1976: 873). This dimension of *mianzi* puts *guanxi* practitioners at unequal starting points, even though they may have same level of awareness of *renqing* and other social norms.

When the late paramount leader of China, Deng Xiaopin, inspected the highway construction in Tianjin during his nation-wide inspection in the early 1990s, he was impressed by the design of the butterfly-shaped highway and recommended the young designer be promoted as senior engineer. The concern of not letting Deng lose face made the institute's officials give an exception to the young designer, who was promoted to senior engineer based on merits but not on seniority. Deng's *mianzi*, embodied by his power and status, exercised considerable influence and control over the institute's officials' behaviors. Though this case does not directly apply to *guanxi* practice, it certainly shows the remarkable role of *mianzi* plays in social interactions, through which *guanxi* relationships are maintained.

Mianzi, as an indication of social prestige, can also augment or reduce the value of the gift/favor as perceived by the recipient in *guanxi* practice. A celebrity can pay off a gift/favor just by showing up at the helper's house-warming party, while a common person has to provide a real gift or conduct a favor to balance the exchange.

Mianzi has a certain quantitative correlation with "social connections," which is one of the two literary translations of *guanxi*. As Hwang (1987: 961) summarizes, "The larger (or smaller) one's social network is – and the more (or less) powerful the people connected with it are – the more (or less) impressive will be that individual's power image as perceived by others." In other words, one's *mianzi* is reflected in the size of his social network and the power, status and prestige possessed by his network members. It is enhanced by the expansion of one's social network and by the amount of *mianzi* of the other powerful network members. Hwang's argument is only a one-way trip: from social connection to *mianzi*. In fact, the operation between social connection and *mianzi* works both ways. The enhancement of one's *mianzi* improves a person's social standing among his network members, who develop a more positive impression on him. This, in turn,

attracts more people to engage themselves as his social contacts. *Mianzi*, in this sense, provides the leverage one needs to successfully expand his network.

Conclusion

Renqing, *mianzi*, and *guanxi* are tightly related to each other. *Renqing* encompasses the ethical values and regulates the *guanxi* practice. In order to be accepted as a *guanxi* practitioner, a person has to comply with *renqing* principles. He has to always show consideration to his *guanxi* contacts' feelings and interacts with them with affective sentiments. He has to repay the gift or favor that he has received so that he can show back his appreciation, and thus reinforce the relationship with personal sentiment. In a word, he has to be thoughtful and abide by the customized social rules in *guanxi* practice.

Renqing principles are socially enforced through the Chinese concept of *mianzi*. *Mianzi* is a social matter because (1) whether a person has *mianzi* or not, or, has how much *mianzi* is determined by other people's perception formed on the basis of his status, power, prestige and his performance in satisfying the role expectations laid upon him; (2) the loss of *mianzi* resulting from a damage in the self image as perceived by others, causes severe humiliation for the ego and thus serves as a social constraint for the implementation of social norms and values; (3) the experience of losing or gaining *mianzi* is borne not only by the individual himself, but also extends to people who are closely related to him.

In the context of *guanxi* practice, social norms and values come in the form of *renqing* principles. The concern of not suffering the loss of *mianzi* and constantly

maintaining one's favorable image among *guanxi* network members assure *guanxi* practitioners' compliance with *renging* principles

Besides the role in the imposition of *renqing* principles, *mianzi*, as an indication of one's power, status, and prestige, is a person's social resource that he can use to manipulate the exchange transactions in *guanxi* relationships or to expand his *guanxi* network.

THE OBLIGATION TO REPAY

The obligation to repay in an exchange transaction was recognized by sociologists and anthropologists long ago (Malinowski 1961, Mauss 1967; Blau in Coser and Rosenberg 1976: 78). Mauss's (1967) study in the Melanesian tribal society discovered that the first gift given in had the name of *vaga*, opening gift, which supposedly bound the recipient to make a return gift, the *yotile*, meaning "clinching gift." Westermarck (1908: 154) states, "To requite a benefit, or to be grateful to him who bestows it, is probably everywhere, at least under certain circumstances, regarded as a duty."

Gouldner (1960) argues it is the "norm of reciprocity" that obliges the recipient to pay off. He suggests "a norm of reciprocity" which has two "interrelated, minimal demands." They are, "(1) people should help those who have helped them, and (2) people should not injure those who have helped them." Gouldner also points out that the "concrete formulations" of the "norm of reciprocity" may vary with time and place.

47

In Chinese society, the "norm of reciprocity" governs the social exchanges through *renqing* and *mianzi*. Any failure to observe the *renqing* principles is a social offense. The offender will be condemned as "not knowing *renqing*," namely having no respect for customized social behaviors. The damage to the reputation will subsequently lower that person's social standing among his social contacts. Such an experience makes that person feel a loss of *mianzi*, which entails an intense feeling of humiliation for the ego. The gift/favor provided in a *guanxi* relationship is imprinted with the *renqing* imperatives which pre-define the subsequent social interactions between the donor and recipient. It can be said that at the very act of accepting, the recipient makes a promise to repay at a later date and will be subject to the monitoring of the social norm mechanism until the repayment is made. As noted by Lévi-Strauss (in Coser and Rosenberg 1976: 66), "[through] a series of alternating oscillations, in which a right is established in the offering and an obligation in the receiving."

Some researchers (Fiske 1992, Komter 2001) argue that social exchange taking place between non-kinsmen follows the principle of "Equality Matching," which is defined as "a relational structure in which people can compare quantities and use the operations of addition and subtraction to assess imbalance" (Fiske 1992: 690). It is also referred to as "reciprocity." Sahlins (1972) identifies this exchange mechanism as "balanced reciprocity." According to him, "balanced reciprocity" signifies the noncontractual, long-term relationships, which are expressed in the continuation of the social relations in a way different from those among kinsmen. In this form of exchange, equivalents must be exchanged within a relatively short time-scale, as with the buying of drinks in a bar: there may be some temporary imbalances but these cannot be tolerated indefinitely. In opposition to the "balanced reciprocity" is "generalized reciprocity" referring to the gift-giving where one does not give in order to receive, and the return of the gift is not constrained by time, quality, or quantity. Sahlins points out that "generalized reciprocity" usually operates within a kin network.

Because *guanxi* is relation-based, there is no set rule of how much to give, how much to repay, and how long the interval between the initial gift and the return gift ought to be. According to Fei (1976: 242), "Exchange on the basis of definite and calculated equivalence tends to diminish in proportion to the intimacy of social relationships." We can say that exchange in a *guanxi* relationship ranges from "balanced reciprocity" to "generalized reciprocity" depending on the closeness and intensiveness of the relationship. Person A may apply "balanced reciprocity" with person B who is only a friend, while applying "generalized reciprocity" with person C, who is person A's confidant. Furthermore, with the development of the relationship through series of giving and receiving, two people may become seeing each other as one's family and hence switch their "balanced reciprocity" to "generalized reciprocity."

Because *guanxi* is basically interpersonal ties, the value of the proffered items (gifts or favors), as perceived by the recipient is not totally dependent on their monetary worth. The extent of the recipient's indebtedness to the giver, the closeness of the relationship between the giver and recipient as well as the social status of the donor, are all factors in determining the total value of what is given. As the monetary worth can only serve as a reference, there is an uncertainty about what is the appropriate and adequate counter gift or return of favor, while on the other side, "the obligation of worthy return is imperative" (Mauss 1967: 41). In addition, unlike in a commodity exchange in

which participating parties can haggle over the price of the goods, a gift is usually presented without asking the opinion of the potential recipient. The absence of "immediate bargaining" in gift exchange hence creates a condition of uncertainty regarding the minimally acceptable response and increases pressure toward generosity (Bell 1990: 161). Bourdieu (1977: 13) puts the rule of the game in the following way, "In short, only escalation, challenge answering challenge, can signify the option of playing the game."

Besides the concern to prolong the relationship, the recipient is also compelled to offer a generous counter gift/favor to avoid damage to his own social standing. According to Mauss (1967: 44), "If things are given and returned it is precisely because one gives and returns 'respects' and 'courtesies.'" Failure to repay the gift/favor one received gestures one's indifference to the "respect" and "courtesies" presented to him by the other. An inadequate counter gift/favor implies a lack of affection toward the other party and a disinterest in the continuance of the relationship. The indifference will inevitably hurt the other party's feelings. In the Chinese cultural context, this person will receive a reputation of "not knowing renging," which will subsequently put him at a disadvantaged position in later social interactions. He will see himself become an unwelcome person among his associates. This debasement of his social standing is an experience of the loss of *mianzi*. Since loss of *mianzi* is a humiliating experience to the ego, individual actors usually will try hard to avoid it by giving generously. Therefore, it is not only the concern to maintain the social relationship that drives the gift-receiver to offer a generous counter gift/favor, but also the cohesive force of renging and mianzi. As Yang (1994: 142) concludes, "In order to maintain one's moral superiority, the best policy is always to keep

the other indebted." Similar social restraining forces can be found in other cultures. In Malinowski's (1961) classic account of the exchange activities of the Kula ring in Melanesia, the inadequacy of a return gift becomes a source of vile gossip that can travel across the seas over hundred of miles to the home of the offender.

Of course, any reference to the generosity of a counter gift/favor must be understood to be *relative* to the original one. Generous exchange tends towards "overwhelming generosity"; a super gift which is beyond the repaying ability of the receiver can "throw its recipient into dishonor by prohibiting any counter-gift" (Bourdieu 1977: 14). Lévi-Strauss (in Coser and Rosenberg 1976: 62) asserts that this phenomenon allows a party to "surpass a rival in generosity." By making it impossible for the recipient to fulfill the obligation to repay, the giver "takes from him privileges, titles, rank, authority and prestige" (ibid). Such a ploy must be balanced against the concern previously related by Goffman, that the actor must not be seen as intentionally depriving another of face, so as not to appear heartless; however, it is difficult to characterize the giving of a magnificent gift as a heartless act.

Besides the value of the repayment, the interval of time between the initial offer and the repayment is also a consideration because "the interval between gift and countergift is what allows a pattern of exchange" (Bourdieu 1977: 6). Malinowski, in his discussion of the Kula ring, carefully notes that the gifts given are not immediately returned, and repayment may take as long as a year. As Bourdieu (ibid) argues, "To betray one's haste to be free of an obligation one has incurred, and thus to reveal too overtly one's desire to pay off services rendered or gifts received, so as to be quits, is to denounce the initial gift retrospectively as motivated by the intention of obliging one." Yan (1996: 127) holds that through not clarifying the balance, the exchange parties can retain "positive interactions" with each other. Therefore it is better to keep the balance for a while so that the other can call in his debt with a request for help, thus rendering that person indebted to you and hence providing opportunities for further cultivating the relationship. A rushed repayment, in contrast, is considered short-sighted and socially inappropriate. It cuts off the potential to furnish the personal ties between the exchange parties by making a *social exchange* into a mere *swapping*.

TIMING AND "IMPLICIT BARGAINING" IN GUANXI EXCHANGE

The quality of *guanxi* relationships can of different shadings. Some *guanxi* relationships are cultivated steadily over a long period of time and often develop into relationships that entail emotional attachment between the parties. Other kinds are more short term, directly instrumental, and initial attempts at cultivation are close to the expected favor.

If the concern is to establish a long-term and stable *guanxi*, which is more personal and less instrumental, the best time to give gifts is at special occasions such as weddings, child-births and the lunar New Year when the "expressive gifts" are circulated. In Bourdieu's words, "it is all a question of style" (1977: 6). Good timing, proper occasion and adequate rituals are the enzymes that help the relationship develop into friendship and hence form the "particularistic" tie. This cultivation of *guanxi* shrouds the implanted instrumentalism in gift-giving with the apparent friendship and good feelings the parties hold toward each other. Not only the gift is offered, *renqing* is presented as well. As Yang (1994: 136) concludes, "appealing to 'sentiment' (*qing*) is often a much more effective way of indebting someone."

Immediate gifts are typical in short-term *guanxi* relationships. In such an exchange, because the element of instrumentalism is so obvious that it is close to a "buying and selling" commodity transaction. The recipient thus feels less emotionally attached to the donor and regards the exchange as no difference from an economic transaction. Such an exchange does not necessarily oblige either of the transaction parties to carry on the relationship after the exchange is complete. Usually no *guanxi* can be developed from such exchanges unless further efforts will be made to boost the sentimental side of the relationship. As Yang (ibid: 137) states, "*guanxi* requires much shrewdness and considerable time and patience on the part of its practitioners."

The desire to cultivate *guanxi* may inspire a person to invest a great deal of thought in determining an appropriate gift that will be appreciated by the recipient. However, the concern of masking the instrumentalism of the gift forbids the giver to carry out a bargaining with the potential recipient over the preferred gift. Bell (1991: 161) suggests to employ "implicit bargaining" to solve this dilemma. He states that "the absence of immediate bargaining does not eliminate the need for an implicit bargaining process for establishing a balance in exchange. Bargaining is always implicit since, over the course of several transactions, an appropriate countergift is a precondition to the continuation of the relationship between parties." Yang (1994: 131) gave the following illustration of how an implicit bargaining is carried out in a *guanxi* exchange.

A person wishing to establish *guanxi* goes to the home of an official who he believes can help him, and after some bantering, casually suggests to him, "Your wristwatch is an old one, would you perhaps like to change it for a new digital one? I have a way of getting a good one." At some point before or after the offer, this person may in the course of conversation make the request, or the request may be made long after the gift has been delivered. If the other replies something to the effect, "Come to think of it, I wouldn't mind a change, but haven't had the opportunity to buy a new watch myself," then the deal is pretty much sealed.

In such an exchange, the bargaining is made "implicitly"; it is carried out through "suggestion and innuendo; direct or outright requests are avoided" (ibid). "Implicit bargaining" therefore is another strategy *guanxi* practitioners employ to make the transaction less *economic* but more *social*.

Chapter IV - Social Networking in *Guanxi* Practice

Social network analysis starts with a set of network members (sometimes called nodes) and a set of ties that connect some or all of these nodes. The term "network" refers to "individuals (or organizations), who are linked together by one or more social relationships such as kinship, communication and friendship" (Marshall 1994: 353). Kinship is the very key concept to understand guanxi practice. The sense of kinship dominates Chinese people's social network formation today, as it has since ancient times. Chinese people like to use the expression zi jia ren (one's own family member) to address the person with whom they feel they are connected, even though that person is not really a family member. By addressing another person as 'one's own family member,' an individual signifies that a basis of familiarity is present and hence the subsequent interaction will follow the rules applied to in-group members. More often than not, we hear a Chinese person calling someone not consanguineously related to him as 'brother Zhang' or 'sister Chen.' The resiliency of the concept of family, according to Chen (1996: 58) provides the Chinese with social and psychological flexibility in constructing their network of actual or fictive kinship relations.

Bourdieu (1977) describes the same phenomenon using the terms of "official kinship" and "practical kinship." He argues that "the uses of 'official kinship' are reserved for official situations in which they serve the function of ordering the social world and of legitimating that order" and that other kinds of "practical use made of kin relationships" are "a particular case of the utilization of connections" (ibid: 34).

In addition to kinship, locality (same hometown), co-worker, classmate, surname, teacher-student, and etc. are also used by *guanxi* practitioners to locate the linkages between one another. This classification has been widely referred to by *guanxi* scholars as the "bases" of *guanxi*.

Network theory's emphasis on the ties between individual actors provides an efficient tool for *guanxi* study. First, *guanxi* is based on interpersonal relationships. Therefore the study of *guanxi* naturally lends itself to the study of individual actors. Second, the concept of the "bridge" was introduced in the personal network approach to refer to persons who form the only link between otherwise unconnected individuals. The "bridge" in the network study is known as the "intermediary" in the practice of *guanxi* (Yan 1996; Yang 1994; Jacobs1979; King 1991). Operating in a similar way as the "bridge," an intermediary in *guanxi* practice links the two originally unconnected individuals.

A third element used in network analysis, the concept of "ties," can be approached from more than one dimension. In a narrow sense, it is used to refer to the specific relationships bonding network members, such as the kinship tie between brothers, or the friendship tie between longtime friends. In a broader sense, however, it brings up the question of the nature of the behavior found in the relationship between network members. This approach allows *guanxi* researchers to disentangle the usually intertwined personal ties among *guanxi* network members and, through the pattern of the social exchange activities, explore the nature of a *guanxi* relationship.

THE IMPORTANCE OF GUANXI BASES

Among many studies of the composition of guanxi ties, Jacobs' (1979) notion of "a

base of guanxi" has been well accepted by scholars (Tsang 1998; Farh, Tsui, Xin and

Cheng 1998; Yeung and Tung 1996; Kiong and Kee 1998).

Jacobs, in his 1979 classic paper defines a guanxi base as follows:

...a base for a *kuan-hsi* (guanxi) depends upon two or more persons having a commonality of shared identification. That is, each of the persons having the *kuan-hsi* (guanxi) base shares an aspect of personal identification which is important to them as individuals such as identification with family, hometown, school or place of work. Such identification may be ascriptive, e.g. native-place or lineage, or it may involve shared experience. For example, the teacher and student in a teacher-student *kuan-hsi* (guanxi) share identification with an experience important to both of them (Jacobs1979: 243).

Using this definition, Jacobs identifies seven major *guanxi* bases. They are kinship, locality (same hometown)⁵, co-worker, classmate, sworn brotherhood (analogous to fraternity membership), surname, and teacher-student. Among many of these *guanxi* bases, the word *tong*, meaning "same" or "shared" is used to designate a whole set of close personal relationships: same hometown (*tong xiang*), co-worker (*tong shi*), classmate (*tong xue*) (ibid).

Researchers have reached contradictory results in examining whether surname is also a major *guanxi* base. Jacobs' empirical study suggests that surname is not an

⁵ Some sociologists (Stockman 2000) suggest that the experience of living a communal life of the youths who were sent down to the countryside for re-education during the Cultural Revolution also form a *guanxi* basis. However, it could also be interpreted as merely a variance of the *guanxi* bases of locality and being co-workers, because youths who were sent to Inner Mongolia certainly had no basis to develop any *guanxi* with youths who were living in Xinjiang Province.

important *guanxi* base, which is in opposition to Kiong and Kee's (1998) research finding. Kiong and Kee's (ibid) survey, conducted among Chinese firms in Singapore and Malaysia, provided data from which they concluded that surname is indeed an important *guanxi* base. The difference in the result may derive from the difference in the research fields—Jacobs' research field was a rural town called Matsu in Taiwan, while Kiong and Kee conducted their research among overseas Chinese in Singapore and Malaysia. In the study conducted by Kiong and Kee, surnames symbolize not only immediate familial connections, but also a much broader sense of ethnicity and nationality: the two features that are important parts of oversea Chinese' self-identity.

Therefore, the importance of surnames as a *guanxi* base might best be ascribed, in this case, to the unique social environment in which overseas Chinese live. This is exactly the opposite of Jacobs' case, where a native Chinese population was the subject of the examination. Jacobs (1979: 249-250), when trying to explain his own research findings, writes: "In most of Taiwan (including Matsu Township) more than half of the population shares the 10 most common surnames. This great extensiveness of surname commonality results in a lack of special feeling between two otherwise unrelated persons of the same surname."

Feld's paper, "The Focused Organization of Social Ties" (1981) provides a more theoretical approach to the study of the composition of network ties within the emerging school of thought known as "focus theory." Feld's approach "is based upon Homans's concepts of activities, interactions, and sentiments and upon the concept of extra-network foci organizing social activities and interaction" (ibid: 1015). Although Feld's paper itself is not regarding *guanxi*, Feld does argue that focused activity puts people into contact with one another to foster the formation of personal relationships. According to Feld, a social context can be seen as consisting of different foci and individuals, where an individual is related to some foci and not to others. Foci may be many different things, including persons, places, social positions, activities, and groups. For foci where everyone is forced to interact frequently and intensely (e.g. families), all of the individuals associated with those foci will be tied to each other; but for foci that are less constraining on interaction (e.g., city neighborhoods), only a slightly higher proportion of individuals will be tied than would be tied in the general population. Once there is a tie between two individuals, these individuals will tend to find and develop new foci around which to organize their joint activity.

By laying individual *guanxi* bases into the theoretical frame work of the "focus theory," we see kinship, same hometown, co-worker, classmate, and teacher-student *guanxi* bases are nothing but different social foci that allow individuals to interact with each other. For instance, kinship is a focus where individuals relate to each other through lineage; same hometown is a focus that constrains individuals who live in that location to interact more with each other than with individuals who do not live in that town; as for co-worker, classmate and teacher-student *guanxi* bases, worker place and study place are organizational foci constraining individuals to interact with each other. Feld (1981:1017) also suggests that "shared relations to foci create positive sentiments indirectly through the generation of positively valued interaction." In the context of *guanxi* bases, we can assume that through interacting with each other in a positive way within certain foci, individuals subsequently develop positive sentiments toward each other, which can be called upon in future interactions either inside or outside of those foci.

Furthermore, the current *guanxi* bases proposed by Jacobs (1979) and well-cited by other scholars are not conclusive. For instance, if persons A and C don't know each other, but are both connected to person B, person B can be the base for persons A and C to develop *guanxi* with one another. Besides hometowns, schools and work places where *guanxi* usually arises, organizations such as clubs or professional associations can also be the bases where *guanxi* is developed. Therefore, instead of generalizing *guanxi* bases, it is more appropriate to consider the concept of *guanxi* bases as a variance. The commonly admitted *guanxi* bases such as kinship, locality, co-workers, classmates and teacher-student are just some of the possible values that the variance usually takes.

Some *guanxi* bases are more common and important than others. In numerous studies, the kinship-based *guanxi* is generally regarded to be the strongest among all *guanxi* bases (Tsang 1998; Farh, Tsui, Xin and Cheng 1998; Kiong and Kee 1998; Tsui and Farh 1997). For example, Chu and Ju's (1990: 273)⁶ study finds that "kinship as a concept is by no means extinct in China, even though its reaches are very much curtailed...In the villages, people sharing a common lineage still treat each other with a touch of special consideration...In urban centers such as Shanghai, close relatives still form a small circle of their own." Luo (1997a: 45) pictures the individual's *guanxi* network established upon different bases as "concentric circles, with close family members as the core and distant relatives, classmates, friends, and acquaintances as peripherals arranged in accordance to the distances of relationships."

⁶ Chu and Ju's study drew a stratified probability sample of 2000 respondents, including 1199 from metropolitan Shanghai, 304 from the two towns in Qingpu, and 497 from twenty villages in four of the twenty rural districts. The findings of the survey give us an overall picture of what contemporary Chinese culture looks like.

The relative strength of the connections developed through each *guanxi* base is not a constant. It is influenced by the dynamic of a person's relationship with his *guanxi* contacts as well as changes in the macro social-economic structure. Relationships based on a supposedly strong *guanxi* base, such as kinship, if not receiving continuous maintenance can become weak and turn into "theoretical relationships, like abandoned roads on an old map" (Bourdieu 1977: 38). Changes in the surrounding social-economic structure, as detailed in the second chapter, can also alter the magnitude of a *guanxi* base.

THE INTERMEDIARY – A KEY PLAYER

Guanxi seldom is confined to a dyadic, two-person network. "Such relationships (*guanxi*) often ramify out in many directions like an expanding spider's web rather than curling back on themselves into a densely-knit tangle" (Wellman, Chen and Weizhen 2001). As the familiarity or commonality embedded in *guanxi* bases is the prerequisite for a *guanxi* relationship, for two unconnected individuals to establish and develop a *guanxi* relationship, a common ground has to be created. In most of the cases, this purpose is achieved through the use of intermediaries (Yang 1994: 123-126; Yan 1996: 171; Jacobs1979: 265; King 1991: 74).

The intermediary is a person who serves as a bridge that brings together the two otherwise disconnected individuals. The network concept of a "bridge," according to Granovetter (1973: 1364) is "the only route along which information or influence can flow from any contact of A to any contact of B, and, consequently, from anyone connected *indirectly* to A to anyone connected indirectly to B" (emphasis in the original).

Thus, a bridge is significant in the sense that it provides a direct tie between those connected with A and those connected with B, who would otherwise remain disconnected. Wellman (1983) refers to this as the "transitivity" of network ties. From a focus theory perspective, intermediaries provide new "focus" around which a tie can be established between the originally unconnected individuals. As Feld (1981: 1022) puts it, "When an individual is confronted with the typical situation of ties to disconnected others, he may seek to change this situation by creating and/or finding a new focus around which to organize his joint activities with the others."

In *guanxi* practices, when one actor needs help beyond the capacity of his immediate *guanxi*, his available *guanxi* contacts can serve as intermediaries to bring in an ultimate helper. Jacobs(1979: 265) describes the role of intermediaries in creating *guanxi* ties in the following way:

A needs something from Z, but no *kuan-hsi* (*guanxi*) ties them. Therefore A considers his various *kuan-hsi* (*guanxi*) and finds M who has a *kuan-hsi* (*guanxi*) with Z. M helps A and goes to Z who helps A in order to help M. If none of A's *kuan-hsi*(*guanxi*) has a *kuan-hsi*(*guanxi*) with Z, A may ask help from H who also has a *kuan-hsi*(*guanxi*) with J who has a *kuan-hsi*(*guanxi*) with K...who has a *kuan-hsi* (*guanxi*) with Z.

Yang (1994: 125) generalizes the role of intermediaries in facilitating guanxi transactions

in the following way:

A general principle in long chains of *guanxi* transactions involving gobetweens is that such chains are composed of a series of dyadic relations in which each person will help the next person in the chain on account of their direct personal relationship and not necessarily with the intention of helping the stranger who made the original request. In many cases the person who performs the last favor in the chain of favors will not know and will never meet the originator of the request. In addition to acting as a bridge, and perhaps more importantly, an intermediary ensures the social interaction between two strangers by providing each with the confidence that the other party is trustworthy.

Trust is "a mutually constructed, jointly shared state of mind that enables social actors to continue working cooperatively in the absence of formal, explicit governance mechanism that safeguard against malfeasance or participant opportunism...The continuing history of this interaction produces the 'emotional energy,' 'sympathy,' or 'chemistry' that motivates participants to engage in future interaction" (Calton and Lad 1995: 281). According to Zucker (1986), trust requires repeated transactions, social similarities that are thought to indicate reliability, or formal structures, often using third parties or extensive socialization that serve as quasi-insurance of the exchange. Trust is especially important in the context of social networks, where "exchanges occur through neither contractual agreements nor hierarchical dictates, but through webs of individuals engaged in reciprocal actions" (Powell and Smith-Doerr 1990: 2). Under such circumstances, a social actor, instead of relying on the "system," has to hold his trust in peer individual actors, who, in turn, honor the trust and return it with their trust. As Blau (1964: 94) puts it, "Since there is no way to assure an appropriate return for a favor, social exchange requires trusting others to discharge their obligations." The third chapter demonstrates how the social norm operating through *mianzi* and *renging* obligates a person in the exchange of gifts and favors. If *mianzi* and *renging* represent the coercive dimension of guanxi exchange, mutual trust provides the participants the confidence and pleasure to deal with each other.

On one hand, the reciprocal nature of a *guanxi* relationship requires the *guanxi* network members to be committed to the exchanges of gifts and favors (Ang 2000; Yeung and Tung 1996; Yang 1994; Yan 1996; Tsang 1998; Gold 1985; Luo1997a). On the other hand, *guanxi* transactions are not legally or formally institutionalized⁷ (Bian 1997; Walder 1986; Kiong and Kee 1998). It is the mutual trust that provides the exchange parties the confidence to carry out the transaction. Bian (in Wellman 1999: 256) writes, "Mutual trust and reciprocal obligation are central to personal networks in the Chinese society." Yeung and Tung (1996: 63) conclude that "Trust is an essential condition for building and maintaining *guanxi* relationships."

When the trust between two social actors is absent or not sufficient for the social interaction to take place, intermediaries may enter the relationship and enhance the level of trust. However, *guanxi* intermediaries function very differently from the western conception of an intermediary in, for example, a business relationship. In the western point of view, intermediaries "smooth transactions via a quasi-insurance of completion without opportunism or malfeasance by focusing on the transaction itself and remaining indifferent to the outcome" (Zucker 1986: 60-65). Intermediaries, in this sense, serve as disinterested external agents who facilitate the transaction but are independent from the transaction. The transaction, whether successful or not, has no impact on the intermediary.

⁷ In fact, many scholars (Yang 1994; Shaw 1996; Chu and Ju 1990) argue that, in most of the cases, *guanxi* exchange is resorted to as a detour to eschew institutionalized rules and regulations.

An intermediary in *guanxi* networks, however, functions in a totally different way. Unlike the intermediaries in the western world who are an independent unit from the transaction, *guanxi* intermediaries are heavily involved in the transaction in several ways.

First, a *guanxi* intermediary provides the transaction parties with *personal* trust in dealing with each other. It is the personal trust embodied by a *guanxi* intermediary that necessitates his presence in the exchange, as opposed to the third-party objectivity and impartiality found in the western world. Yang (1994: 125) quotes one informant when he agreed to be interviewed as saying, "Old Liao and I have been close friends for a long time. Since it was Old Liao who introduced you to me, it must mean that he trusts you, so I trust you too." Though intermediaries in the form of an individual can be transformed into an institution which performs the same function as those in the western society, the notion of intermediaries in *guanxi* exchange is always *personal*-relation-based.

Second, a *guanxi* intermediary is personally involved in the exchange by participating in the mutual indebtedness incurred by the exchange. This dynamic exists because "the indirect exchanges are not based on the relative interests of the peripheral actors in one another, but instead on the relative interests governing their dyadic transactions with the intermediary" (Marsden in Marsden and Lin 1982: 206). In her ground-breaking book exploring *guanxi* practice, Yang (1994: 125) concludes:

In the *guanxi* chains, indebtedness is embedded within each specific link or dyadic relationship, not diffused all along the chain. That is to say, each person in the chain will only be indebted to the next person to whom she or he made a request. In this way a person may, through the *guanxi* of *guanxi*, transcend his or her own limited social network and cross over into several others without incurring an exorbitant debt to everyone involved. Therefore even though the principle of *guanxi* involves only assisting people with whom one has *guanxi*, intermediaries provide a lot more flexibility for a person in obtaining help from outside one's available *guanxi* network. Furthermore, a *guanxi* intermediary sometimes also acts as scout for his friend to find out what kind of gift the helper would like in exchange for his service or whether the position or jurisdiction of the potential helper would enable him to fulfill the specific request (ibid).

Third, an intermediary can utilize *renqing* and *mianzi* to compel the helper to provide assistance to the person in need. One of the *renqing* obligations is to assist one's friends when they are in need (Hwang 1987: 953; Chu and Ju 1990: 37). By declining the request from someone introduced by one's *guanxi* associate, a person violates *renqing* obligation and hence runs the risk of incurring a reputation of "not knowing *renqing*." The sour reputation together with the rumor that he is unable to help his friends out will let him suffer a loss of *mianzi*. As one informant in Yang (1994) puts it, "It is very embarrassing not being able to help one's friends; one would not have face. People cannot raise their heads up in front of friends again after letting them down" (141).

In such a network in which everyone is judged by others by the standard of *renqing* and *mianzi*, an intermediary can obligate another person to help by manipulating the *renqing* obligation and *mianzi* standing. The Chinese saying, "have a look at the Buddha's face before turning the monk's plea down" connotes that a person has to take a second thought when he declines a request made by someone who connects with a socially prestigious person. In the case of a *guanxi* network, a person not only has to be cognizant of the social position of the intermediary, but must also take that person's *guanxi* relationship with him into consideration if he does not want to cause any damage

to the relationship by refusing to honor a request. Thus, a *guanxi* intermediary does not bring either objectivity or impartiality to the exchange, but plays an active role in ensuring that the exchange will take place and succeed.

Fourth, depending on the closeness of his *guanxi* tie with the party providing help and the party receiving help, an intermediary can also influence the possibility that help will be provided when sought. Bian (in Wellman 1999: 261), in his study of the relationship between social networking and job attainment in China, reports that the opportunity for assistance greatly increased when a strong-tie intermediary linked the job-seeker to the control agent. Similarly, the intermediary can influence not only the likelihood that the party whose help is sought will provide this help, but can also influence the quality of the help that will be provided once the provider has committed to providing this help.

GUANXI- INTERPLAY OF EXPRESSIVENESS AND INSTRUMENTALISM

A person's ties with others can be expressive or instrumental. An expressive tie is usually considered to be an end in-and-of itself while an instrumental tie is goal-oriented. Hwang (1987) differentiates an expressive tie and an instrumental tie in the following way:

The expressive tie is generally a relatively permanent and stable social relationship. It can render an individual's feeling of affection, warmth, safety, and attachment. This kind of tie occurs mostly among members of such primary groups as family, close friends, and other congenial groups...the instrumental tie stands in opposition to the expressive tie. When an individual attempts to establish an expressive tie with other people, the tie is the goal in itself. But when one attempts to establish an

instrumental tie, the relationship serves only as a means or an instrument to attain other goals. Thus, this relationship is basically unstable and temporary" (949-950).

Based on Hwang's (1987) distinction between the expressive tie and the instrumental tie, this section will expound upon the expressive and the instrumental facets of a *guanxi* tie and demonstrate how these two dimensions intermingle with each other in a person's pursuance of *guanxi*. To achieve this purpose, *guanxi* practice will be examined in the contexts of "*guanxi* in daily life," "*guanxi* in business activities," and "*guanxi* in politics" respectively.

Guanxi in Daily Life

Mutual visits and gift giving are the most common practices for family members or friends to maintain their *guanxi* with each other. Yan (1994: 61-67) records in detail the expressive gift giving in Xiajia village where he carried out his field research. To strengthen their *guanxi* ties, Yan reports, residents in Xiajia maintain mutual visits with their relatives and friends on a regular basis. Extensive social visiting and gift giving are carried out during the Lunar New Year. Visiting the sick is socially expected and gifts are usually presented on that occasion, so that visitors may show their sympathy and good wishes towards the sick person. Food, including cooked dishes and garden products such as vegetables, are exchanged informally among female relatives or friends. According to Yan (ibid) villagers "personalize" and "emotionalize" their *guanxi* relationship through such food exchanges.

However, the exchanges do not exist for their own sake, and their utility goes beyond the apparent unlimited socialization inherent in the maintenance of the relationship itself. For Xiajia villagers, *guanxi* networks based on social exchanges are also "an accessible institution" from which social support can be sought (ibid: 88). The social support is usually in the form of mutual assistance, such as an immediate exchange of labor between two families, or the seeking of favors from a villager's relatives and friends for farming tasks (ibid: 89). In times of natural disaster such as a famine, *guanxi*based social support can provide *guanxi* network members with basic needs such as food and shelter. As one informant said, "No matter the dynasty [political regime], we ordinary people are always the victims and have no one to rely on except our own relatives and close friends" (ibid: 94).

Yan's (1996) findings are very similar to that of Wellman's (1979) survey of the "intimate" networks among 845 adult residents in East York, Toronto. Wellman's study found that respondents often perceive their intimate connections as a type of general utility. He discovers that "While they know that they might need help from intimates at some time, and maintain their ties in part for that purpose, often they do not have any precise idea of what contingencies will in fact develop" (ibid: 1216 footnote). Wellman further notes that "It is the generalized role relationship of 'helper' that is of interest here" (ibid: 1217 footnote).

The mild instrumentalism in Xiajia villagers' *guanxi* network lies in the unpredictable nature of farmers' life, and hence can be regarded as inevitable. However, Butterfield's (1982: 44- 48) account of an urban Chinese family relentlessly cultivating

their *guanxi* with him and his family illustrates how instrumentalism is carefully activated by *guanxi* practitioners.

The relationship began with the Wang family inviting Fox Butterfield and his family for dinner at the Wang's apartment. Both the husband and the wife took their day off from work to shop and cook for the Butterfields. At that time, most of the daily necessities in China were still rationed for common people. The Wang family consumed their entire month's ration of one pound of peanut oil on cooking the spring rolls which were one of the many dishes offered at the dinner. The following week, the Butterfield family invited the Wang family to their apartment where the Wang family presented Butterfield and his wife with jade hairpins, carved jade belt buckles, and a Qing dynasty blue and white vase. A week later, the Butterfields were back at the Wangs for dinner. The Wangs asked Butterfield a favor—to buy, at the Wangs family's expense, some peanut oil and sesame oil, because those items were not rationed for foreigners. Later they checked whether Butterfield could help them buy a television which was sold much cheaper in the store that was reserved for foreigners.

The friendship went deeper and the Butterfield family started feeling the pressure. "We ourselves did feel close to the Wangs, but as Westerners the constant gift-giving and obligation left us uneasy" (ibid: 48). Several weeks before the Butterfield family left China, they had dinner with the Wangs. At the dinner, Wang's wife suggested that the Butterfield family let her daughter come and live with them in the United States so she could learn English and go to better schools. She said, "We feel you are really our friends now...Our *guanxi* are very close. We don't think of you as foreigners anymore" (ibid).

By examining the development of the guanxi relationship between the Wangs and the Butterfields, we will be able to discover the delicate interplay of the expressive and the instrumental dimensions in a *guanxi* relationship. The Wangs initiated the interaction by offering a dinner. In order to prepare the dinner, they spent a lot of time, energy, and most of all, their daily necessities. The Butterfields were thrilled by their hospitality and offered a return invitation. In the second interaction, the Wangs presented the Butterfields with generous gifts. Even though the exchange, up to this point, was very imbalanced, the Wangs, assuming the role of the creditor, did not make any request to balance out the sheet. At this point, the relationship seemed purely expressive. At the third interaction, the Wangs started asking favors from the Butterfields, who felt obligated to provide the help. Finally, the Wangs suggested the Butterfields help bring their only daughter to the United States. The instrumental aspect of the relationship only emerged when the relationship had been cemented with sentiment and humanity. The instrumentalism is always intertwined with and shrouded by the expressive gift-giving, mutual visit and socialization. As Butterfield writes, "I often wondered about their (the Wangs) motives; I sensed a mixture of curiosity, the thrill of the illicit, a practical eye for gain, and real friendship" (46).

Guanxi in Business Activities

One of Yang's (1994) informants, a worker from a medium-sized light-industry factory, explained how *guanxi* operated in the supply and marketing business in China.

In our line of business, even if two agents have never met, we all have historical backgrounds [i.e. we know *about* each other]. From the day when we first started working, we've been cultivating long-term relationships and making contacts...Our socializing is quite extensive- I know you, and so your friends all know me- it's like a spider web [of relations]... in China, supply and marketing work relies on your factory's good planning and allocation from above, and also on human relations [*guanxi*]...personal relations must be based on trust...and loyalty to friends. So our work is predicated on 'emotional feeling' [*ganqing*] (105-106).

What is remarkable in this case is that all people enter the relationship with an instrumental goal in their minds—to obtain supplies or sell goods. This situation determined the instrumental element in the relationship. However, the extensive socializing among the same group of people also let them become friends with each other. They helped each other out in times of need. Trust was thus established, and loyalty to friends maintained. All these added the expressiveness to the relationship and obscured the underlying instrumentalism. The relationship started with an instrumental goal- to obtain supply or sell goods. Through the long time interaction with each other, it turned into friendship which bears the expressive elements such as the "emotional feeling," loyalty and trust. The relationship was carried on not only because the affective feeling they held toward each other, but also a result of their jobs' requirement.

Guanxi relationships between private companies and government officials are usually in something of a gray area. The following example shows that even though the exchange is largely instrumental, the expressive element is indispensable.

My company had bad luck. We were audited for income tax fraud...There are no standardized rules on how to keep books in China, especially for private companies like ours...If we had been found guilty of tax fraud, we could have faced thousands of yuan [RMB] in fines and the possible suspension of our business license...I called my administrative assistant, X, into my office and told him the situation...By noon, my phone rang, X

asked me to go to lunch with the auditors, at the best restaurant in the city...This lunch lasted three hours and cost plenty, but it saved my company...Later on I found out that X's father is a good friend of the head auditor (Xin and Pearce 1996: 1652-1653).

There are two layers of *guanxi* relationships in this case. X's father served as an intermediary even though he did not make a personal introduction between the auditors and the company. Because of his *guanxi* connection with the head auditor, the company secured a "base" from where they could warm up their *guanxi* relationship with the auditors. We can assume that during the lunch, which was more like a banquet, the company manager and the auditors socialized and fostered some affective feeling toward each other.

Two points should be clarified here. First, the auditors spared the company not simply because of the lunch, but mostly in consideration of X's father's *guanxi* relationship with the head auditor. The transaction between the company manager and the auditors, though primarily instrumental, was based on the friendship between X's father and the head auditor. Second, the expensive lunch served two purposes. On one hand, it was perceived as a gift, which is rendered in exchange for an immediate favor. On the other hand, it was used to obscure the apparent instrumentalism.

Guanxi in Politics

Jacobs' (1979) study shows how *guanxi* was cultivated by politicians in Matsu Township, in Taiwan, to gain electoral support and help in carrying out projects. The author explains that "strategies employed by various Matsu leaders show remarkable

similarity" (261). Jacobs describes the expressive element of this relationship as follows:

If, for example, a township leader wishes to make his *kuan-hsi* (*guanxi*) with a village leader closer, the former will attempt to increase the social interaction between them by inviting the village leader to banquets on such occasions as weddings in the township leader's family and festivals in his home village. Should a wedding occur in the village leader's family, the township leader will be sure to send a wedding gift, usually a "red envelope" containing money and he may also send a signed scroll which the village leader can hang in his ancestral hall for his guests to see. If the township leader receives an invitation to attend a banquet at the village leader's home, the township leader will attend and thus give prestige or "face" to the village leader (ibid).

According to Jacobs' description, the interplay between the instrumental dimension

and the expressive dimension is explained pretty clearly in this case:

Provided the social interaction continues, *kan-ch'ing* (emotional feeling) between the township leader and village leader will occur and become better. Then the township leader can expect the village leader's support in an election (unless the village leader has a closer *kuan-hsi* (*guanxi*) with the other township faction) and the village leader can expect the township leader's support at the township level (unless a competing, closer *kuan-hsi* (*guanxi*) has precedence) (ibid).

With a goal in mind—to secure political support—the township leaders and the village leaders engaged in various types of expressive socializing, ranging from holding/attending banquets, mutual visits and gift giving. The extensive socializing subsequently increased their good feelings towards each other and hence reinforced their *guanxi* relationship with personal elements. The benefits could be foreseen: each party could expect due political support from the other party. Again, the instrumental dimension in this relationship was carefully and deliberately obscured by the overwhelming expressive socializing and also the affection attached to the relationship.

The *guanxi* relationship between former U.S. president Richard Nixon and the Beijing officials with whom Nixon engaged proved again that *guanxi* always exists at a personal level.

Guan-xi have created a social magnetic field in which all Chinese move, keenly aware of those people with whom they have connections and those they don't. They explain why the Communist leadership, which was so grateful to Richard Nixon for helping make the breakthrough in Sino-American relations, could never understand Watergate and why Peking even sent a special plane to bring Nixon back to China for a visit after his disgrace (Butterfield 1982: 44).

Nixon's initial visit, on one hand, laid the ground work of the normalization of the two countries' diplomatic relationship; and on other hand, tremendously enhanced his *guanxi* with the Beijing officials. In *Diplomacy* (1994), former U.S. Secretary of State Kissinger reveals that, though there were plenty of strategic considerations from both sides, the *guanxi* between Nixon and Beijing officials certainly contained personal elements. Kissinger particularly compares the Chinese interpersonal style of negotiation with that of the Soviet Union. While the "insistence and vehemence" of the Soviets "reflected the brutal discipline and internal strains of Soviet politics," Kissinger found that "Chinese leaders represented an emotionally far more secure society. They were less interested in fine drafting points than in building confidence" (ibid: 727).

Nixon's personal visit to China as well as Beijing's clear appreciation toward him marked the expressive dimension of the relationship. This is characterized by the fact that Mao, upon meeting with Nixon, "wasted no time in assuring the President that China would not use force against Taiwan" (ibid). Kissinger reports that "Mao asked for no reciprocity for the assurance America had been seeking for twenty years" (ibid). This unilateral assurance was, without a doubt, the most remarkable gift Mao could offer to Nixon as his appreciation for Nixon's historic visit.

The instrumental side of the *guanxi* relationship between Nixon and Beijing officials is obvious and expansive, but beyond the topic of this thesis.

Conclusion

The cases cited in this section, though different in many senses, such as context and the degree of expressiveness and instrumentalism that are involved, all demonstrate the interplay between the expressive dimension and the instrumental dimension within *guanxi* relationships. The goal or task-oriented relationships are distinct from purely expressive ties. The goals or tasks can fall within a very wide range of activities, including obtaining resources, accumulating social capital in time of need, avoiding punishment, facilitating career development, and many more. The relationships, although colored by instrumentalism, challenge a market model of assistance, in which a seeker rationally determines a need, scans all available sources, and calls upon them in ranked order of probable utility. In nature, these are essentially exchange relationships which "mingle instrumental intentions with personal feeling" (Walder 1986: 179).

As illustrated in the preceding section, expressiveness and instrumentalism are the two innate dimensions of a *guanxi* relationship, and they usually operate in an intertwined fashion within the relationship. Most of the time, the magnitude of one dimension is different from that of the other. For instance, a *guanxi* relationship built and maintained through daily life sees constant expressive gift giving and mutual visits. In this kind of

relationship, the instrumental goal is usually generalized. The *guanxi* relationship found in business activities and the political arena is often seen as specific-goal-oriented, and therefore has a greater degree of instrumentalism than the *guanxi* relationships which are typically maintained through daily life. Based on this logic, we can conceive the balance between the instrumental and the expressive elements imbedded in the personal tie featured in a *guanxi* relationship as a continuum. At one end, the expressive personal element is the most prominent feature, while the most prominent feature at the other extreme is the instrumental element. The magnitude of expressiveness and instrumentalism varies from one relationship to another.

Chapter V - Conclusion

By the time the Communists came into power in 1949, rural residents accounted for about 80% of China's total population. The household- and village-based labor-intensive agricultural activity fostered the growth of "tightly bounded and densely knit networks" (Kis and Wellman in Wellman 1999: 248). The communist party-state sought to destroy the traditional kinship-based communities associated with rural China in an effort to transform the old "particularistic" ties into the universal comradeship. Ironically, the "particularistic" ties not only survived but also turned out to be the major means to deal with new situations, such as bureaucratic rigidities, material scarcities and personal political insecurities. As Lin (in Marsden and Lin 1982: 145) argues, "…while structural characteristics impose the range of behaviors possible, individuals hold certain degrees of freedom in the manipulation of the social structure for their own benefits." From traditional kinship-based society, through the Communist revolution, and into the current market-oriented society, *guanxi* has become the hallmark of the Chinese society.

In the current post-Communist period, *guanxi* has been employed to deal with rapidly changing markets, transmuting institutions, and personal economic insecurities. Both bureaucracies and markets have required social networks to operate: bureaucracies need interpersonal workarounds to avoid rigidities; markets need the social stability and trust-enhancing qualities of interpersonal ties (Wellman, Chen and Weizhen 2001).

RECAPITULATION OF THE PRACTICE OF GUANXI

The origin of *guanxi* can be traced to the Confucian perception of the central ego the individual—trying to find the proper position relative to the people who surround him. Immediate family and relatives are the closest, followed by close friends and acquaintances, and finally strangers. This order, if complied with dogmatically, would confine the practice of *guanxi* to a tightly-bound and densely-knit social circle of individuals. However, the reality is that two people who are not genealogically related can have a very close *guanxi* relationship. This lies in the flexible conception of kinship among Chinese people, exemplified by the common situation where close friends will refer to each other as "brothers" or "sisters." The resilience of the concept of family enables Chinese people to constantly expand their network of actual and fictive kinship relations.

Having survived through numerous types of economic and social environments, *guanxi* has proven itself to be less costly, more effective, and more easily accessible than any other alternatives, such as acquiring state redistributions or making market purchases. Though used in fundamentally dissimilar societies throughout Chinese history, *guanxi* has continued to operate by several basic rules. Gift, favor, and *renqing* exchanges mark the process of the establishment and maintenance of a *guanxi* relationship. The exchanges are carried out in a long period of time so that mutual trust and affective sentiment can be gradually cemented. The rules, by which *guanxi* works, determine the techniques of building and maintaining *guanxi* relationships. To initiate a *guanxi* relationship, a base of familiarity has to be located. Where this base of familiarity is absent or is not strong

enough, an intermediary who is familiar with both parties is usually invited to strengthen the sense of familiarity. In the case of two unconnected people who want to start a *guanxi* relationship, an intermediary must be brought in who is familiar with both of them.

A *guanxi* tie features expressiveness and instrumentalism, and these two dimensions are intertwined with each other in a *guanxi* relationship. The instrumental aspect is always carefully shrouded with abundant expressive gift giving, mutual visits, and socialization. The two dichotomizing attributes of *guanxi*—expressiveness and instrumentalism—tell us that efforts must be paid at both ends in order to maintain a *guanxi* relationship. On one hand, the development of personal and trusting relationships alone, without any accompanying gifts or favors, cannot sustain the *guanxi* relationship. On the other hand, the mere rendering of gifts and favors alone is insufficient because "it is important to develop a personal relationship with the partner that cannot be readily imitated by others" (Yeung and Tung 1996: 63).

The fact that *guanxi* relationships are based on social exchanges predetermines that *guanxi* relationships are long-term oriented. Blau (1964: 94) writes, "Exchange relations evolve in a slow process, starting with minor transactions in which little trust is required because little risk is involved... By discharging their obligations for services rendered, if only to provide inducements for the support of more assistance, individuals demonstrate their trustworthiness, and the gradual expansion of mutual service is accompanied by a parallel growth of mutual trust." Therefore, in order to maintain an active *guanxi* relationship, a person has to continually engage in various kinds of social interactions such as mutual visits, dinners, presentation of gifts, and rendering of mutual help.

One technique to ensure continued social interaction is to have multiplex rather than single-stranded *guanxi* relationships (Jacob 1979: 262). As *guanxi* is based on shared attributes or experience, multi-stranded *guanxi* bases increase the opportunities for social interaction. They also increase the feelings of commonality between the parties and subsequently invoke personal ties to develop. A *guanxi* relationship based on multiplex bases is closer and more consolidated and thus more resistant to deterioration than a single-stranded *guanxi* relationship. "The more ties within a set of individuals, the more likely it is that a common focus will be developed, and, consequently, previously untied pairs within the set will become tied" (Feld 1981: 1020).

GUANXI'S FUTURE IN CHINESE SOCIETY

As the economic reform is carried out at more aggressive pace and the Chinese society shifts from a group-based society to a network-based society (Wellman, Chen and Weizhen 2001), *guanxi*'s future remains an undetermined matter. The enlargement of the domestic market will make more resources available to common people, therefore reducing the need for *guanxi*, which has been resorted to as a detour to obtain resources that are denied to common people by the state distributive system. The ongoing state-sponsored privatization of state-owned enterprises, the decollectivization of the former peasant communes in rural areas, and the loosening of government regulations regarding migration are giving Chinese individuals more freedom to make their own life choices. At this point, *guanxi*, having evolved into a means to counter state-power in its control over the lives of individuals, will likely see a decrease in utility in Chinese society.

However, many other economic and social factors may contribute to the persistence of *guanxi* in Chinese society. First, even though many aspects of the Chinese economy have started to bear the characteristics of capitalism, continued state control and an incomplete transformation of the centrally controlled market system into a fully rationalized market system highlight the continued distinction between the Chinese economy and the economies of western capitalist nations. The current economic structure in China is a mixture of communism and capitalism, where social and material resources are still limited and differential access to these resources is still the norm. In such a system, "who you know" is still important to help individual actors to obtain statecontrolled resources and grab market opportunities.

Second, with the massive economic reform progress, China cannot avoid the increasing specialization and professionalization in the labor population. With the society entering the stage where professionalization divides people into different professional categories, a person's social network members are going to become less diversified. In other words, most network members will be able to provide only specialized aid. This means that a person seeking aid of many different kinds, must maintain an extensive *guanxi* network. For this reason, we might see *guanxi* experience another wave of ascendance as professionalization takes its toll on Chinese society.

Finally, even though more and more aspects of social life are going to be regulated and standardized, hence making the use of personal ties less necessary, it is difficult to convince people to abandon the existing avenues which they have mastered, and from which they have benefited for a long time. As Kis and Wellman argue, "People rationally

82

rely on their already existing behavioral patterns, skills, and heavy investment in network capital" (in Wellman 1999: 250).

Not only is the future of *guanxi* practice in Chinese society an uncertain matter, the rules by which *guanxi* works may also see alterations. With the shift from obligation to rights as the guiding principle for social relations (Chu and Ju 1990: 314), Chinese people could become less concerned with their traditional obligations toward family and friends. Instead, they may be more attentive to their own individual rights. They may feel less obligated to render help when their *guanxi* contacts come to them. Also, urbanization and the influx of Western culture may activate the kind of impersonal social processes, which erode the traditional norms and values such as *mianzi* and *renqing*, which have been the underpinning of *guanxi* practice.

The preoccupation with material gains in contemporary China, resulting in part from the abrupt policy change between Mao's revolution and Deng's subsequent economic reform, has also taken its toll on inter-personal relations. Gold (1985) believes that "Chinese are increasingly relating to each other directly through a cash nexus" (662). Similarly, King (1991) writes, "In present-day China, both traditional and socialist moral values are cast in doubt, practical utilitarian concerns have gained an upper hand" (73). As explained in chapter III, money is usually avoided in *guanxi* practice, due to its impersonal and utilitarian attributes. However, along with the rising of a commodity- and profit-oriented economy, the ascendancy of monetary transactions may encroach on the space of *guanxi* practice.

Fei (1992: 126) predicts that as the social interaction among people becomes more complex, the desire to "settle accounts on the spot" will supersede the utility of

establishing long-term, *renqing*-obligated reciprocal exchanges, such as those necessarily found in *guanxi* relationships. In other words, a beneficiary under the influence of modern capitalism would rather pay off a favor he has received by offering an immediate gift or monetary compensation. The *guanxi* relationship may continue, but neither party is indebted to the other. The transaction, though based on their special relationship with each other, is more business-like than personal.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

As international migration and trade are globalizing *guanxi*, and as China is playing more important roles in the present world, it is important for researchers to study and document the changing application of *guanxi*. Although it is one of the most recognized social practices in Chinese society, *guanxi* has not been studied thoroughly or comprehensively. The rapid changes in the economic, social and technological environment of China bolster the necessity of updating our understanding of *guanxi* practice, so that future researchers will have a reference point from which to examine the evolutionary process of the Chinese society.

In the spirit of creating such an understanding, there are a number of questions which the author of this thesis proposes that future researches may undertake to answer:

How do demographic features such as gender, age, educational level, areas of residence (for example rural or urban), and so forth, impact the composition of a person's *guanxi* network?

What impact will the technological advancement in communication field have on *guanxi* practice? Will *guanxi* become less costly to maintain by replacing personal visits with emails and phone calls? Or, will it make personal visits even more impressive, as more people switch to technology-supported socialization?

Guanxi, as a source of social support (for example, providing job information or mutual assistance among neighbors), transfers the resources of the network to the individual. The next step that social researchers should undertake is to find out who provides what kind of social support to the *guanxi* practitioners, and hence unveil the pattern of how resources distributed in the form of social support flow in a person's *guanxi* network. The findings will contribute to our understanding not only of the practice of *guanxi*, but also of how resources are reallocated through informal social networking in Chinese society.

Does *guanxi* contribute to social solidarity or differentiation? *Guanxi* is a doubleedged sword. Through *guanxi*, an individual is directly or indirectly connected to other members in the society. The co-dependence among *guanxi* network members, characterized by reciprocity and mutual assistance, should reinforce the existing social structure featured by social connectivity among individual actors. If Chinese people realize that increasing professionalization narrows the spectrum of social support available from their *guanxi* networks, they may respond by enlarging and extending their *guanxi* networks. *Guanxi* could then become the root of a sort of organic social solidarity within Chinese society.

However, guanxi may also work against solidarity, and instead lead the society toward differentiation. One primary function of guanxi is to reallocate state-controlled resources. If the resources in demand are still going to be under state control but not available on the free market, *guanxi* will remain as the magic hand to obtain the desired items. Those who are in the positions to grant resources will subsequently be targeted by resource-seekers as the parties with whom *guanxi* must be cultivated. This behavioral trend will, in turn, reinforce the existing power structure by serving as a social admission of the personal power of government bureaucrats, and will therefore contribute to the continued existence of social differentiation in Chinese society.

References:

Alston, J.P. 1989. Wa, guanxi, and inhwa: managerial principles in Japan, China, and Korea. **Business Horizons**, 32 (2): 26-31.

Ambler, Tim. 1995. Reflection in China: Re-orienting Images of Marketing. Marketing Management, Vol. 4, No. 1, Summer: 23-30.

Ang, Swee Hoon. 2000. The power of money: a cross-cultural analysis of business-related beliefs. **Journal of World Business**, Vol. 35, No.1: 43-60.

Bell, Duran. 1991. Modes of Exchange: Gift and Commodity. **The Journal of Socio-Economics**, Vol. 20, No. 2, Summer: 155-167.

Bian, Yanjie. 1997. Indirect Ties, Network Bridges, and Job Searches in China. American Sociological Review, Vol. 62, June: 339- 507.

Bian, Yanjie and Soon Ang. 1997. Guanxi Networks and Job Mobility in China and Singapore. **Social Forces**, Vol. 75, March: 981-1005.

Blau, Peter. 1964. Exchange and Power in Social Life. New York: John Wiley & Sons.

Bourdieu, Pierre. 1977. Outline of A Theory of Practice. Cambridge University Press.

Bruhn, Manfred. 1996. Business Gifts: A Form of Non-Verbal and Symbolic Communication. **European Management Journal**, Vol. 14, No. 1: 61-68.

Butterfield, Fox. 1982. China: Alive in the Bitter Sea. New York: Times Books.

Calton, Jerry M and Lawrence J. Lad. 1995. Social Contracting as a trust-building process of network governance. **Business Ethics Quarterly**, Vol. 5: 271-295.

Casey, Catherine. 1999. "Come, Join Our Family": Discipline and Integration in Corporate Organizational Culture. **Human Relations**, Vol. 52, No. 2: 155-176.

Chang, Joanna. 1998. The guanxi factor: accounting ethics in China. Australian CPA, Melbourne, Vol. 68, No. 8, September: 44-45.

Chen, Min. 1996. Asian Management Systems: Chinese, Japanese and Korean Styles of Business. International Thomson Business Press.

Chen, Shao-hsing and Morton H Fried. 1970. **The Distribution of Family Names in Taiwan**, Vol. 2, The Maps (Jointly published by the Department of Sociology, College of Law, National Taiwan University and the Department of Anthropology and East Asian Institute, Columbia University.) Chen, Zhenxiong and Anne Marie Francesco. 2000. Employee Demography, Organizational Commitment, and Turnover Intentions in China: Do Cultural Differences Matter? **Human Relations**, Vol. 53, No. 6: 869- 887.

Chu, Gordwin and Ju Yanan. 1990. The Great Wall in Ruins: Cultural Change in China. Honolulu: East-west Center.

Clark, Linda Dunn. 1998. Dissertation. The Role of Overseas Chinese Investment in the Emerging Countries of Southeast and East Asia: A Confucian Model of the Foreign Direct Investment Decision Making Process Using Factors Unconsidered in the West. Florida International University.

Collins, Philippa. 1997. Postcard from China. **Management Services**, Enfield, Vol. 41, No. 12, December: 36-38.

Coser, Lewis A and Bernard Rosenberg. Ed. 1976. Sociological Theory: A Book of Readings. Macmillan publishing Co., Inc.

Cunningham, J. Barton. 1995. Success in Corporate and Entrepreneurial Organizations in Singapore. Journal of Small Business Management, Vol. 33, No. 4, October: 80-86.

Doebele, Justin. 1996. A smuggler with guanxi. **Forbes**, New York, Vol. 158, No. 12, Nov 18: 161.

Duck, Steve and Daniel Perlman. 1985. Understanding Personal Relationships. SAGE Publications Ltd.

Economist, The. 1997. The puppet-master of toytown. September 6, Vol. 344, No. 8033: 66.

. 2000. Tangled Web. Guanxi. "China Survey" section, April 8, p. 7.

Engardio, Pete. 1996. The Relentless Pursuit of guanxi. **Business Week**, New York, Industrial/technology Edition, No. 3495, September: 124.

Fairbank, John King. 1979. **The United States and China** (4th edition). Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press.

Farh, Jiing-Lih, Anne S. Tsui, Katherine Xin and Bor-shiuan Cheng. 1998. The influence of relational demography and guanxi: The Chinese case. **Organization Science**, Vol. 9, No. 4, July/August: 471-488.

Fei, Xiaotong. 1976. Peasant Life in China. New York: AMS Press.

. 1992. From the Soil. The Foundation of Chinese Society. Berkeley: University of California Press.

Feld. Scott L. 1981. The Focused Organization of Social Ties. American Journal of Sociology, Vol. 86, No. 5: 1015-1035.

Fischer, Claude S. 1982. What Do We Mean by 'Friend'? An Inductive Study. Social Network, No. 3: 287-306.

Fiske, Alan Page. 1992. Implicit Relationship prototypes: investigating five theories of the cognitive organization of social relationships. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, Vol. 28, September: 441-74.

_____. 1992. The Four Elementary Forms of Sociability: Framework for a United Theory of Social Relations. **Psychological Review**, Vol. 99, No. 4: 689-723.

Fried, Morton H. 1953. Fabric of Chinese Society: A study of the Social Life in a Chinese County Seat. Octagon Books.

Goffman, Erving. 1955. On Face Work. Psychiatry, Vol. 18: 213-31.

Gold, Thomas B. 1985. After Comradeship: Personal Relations in China Since the Cultural Revolution. China Quarterly, No. 104: 657-675.

Gouldner, Alvin W. The Norm of Reciprocity: A Preliminary Statement. American Sociological Review, Vol. 25, No. 2: 161-178.

Greenblatt, Sidney L., Richard W. Wilson. and Amy Auerbacher Wilson. 1981. **Organizational Behavior in Chinese Society**. Praeger Publishers.

Gregory, C. A. 1982. Gifts and Commodities. London: Academic Press.

Ho, David Yau-fai. 1976. On the Concept of Face. American Journal of Sociology, Vol. 81, No. 4: 867-884.

Hu, Hsien Chin. 1944. The Chinese Concept of "Face". American Anthropology, Vol. 46: 45-64

Hui, Chun and George Grean. 1997. Guanxi and Professional Leadership in Contemporary Sino-American Joint Ventures in Mainland China. Leadership Quarterly, Vol. 8, No. 4, Winter: 451-465.

Hwang, K. K. 1987. Face and Favor: The Chinese Power Game. American Journal of Sociology, No. 92: 944- 974.

Jacobs, J. Bruce. 1979. A Preliminary Model of Particularistic Ties in Chinese Political Alliance: Kan-ch'ing and Kuan-his in A Rural Taiwanese Township. **China Quarterly**, No. 78: 237-73.

Jones, Gareth. 1998. Cultural Evolution. People Management, Vol. 4, No. 21, October 21: 38-41.

King, Ambrose Yeo-chi. 1988. Renqi guanxi zhong renqing zhi fenxi. (An analysis of the concept of renqing in the context of interpersonal relations). In Guoshu Yang, ed., **Zhongguoren de xinli (The psychology of the Chinese)**: 319- 345. Taipei, Taiwan: Guiguan Press.

. 1991. Kuan-hsi and Network Building: A Sociological Interpretation. **Daedalus**, Vol. 120, No. 2: 63-84.

Kiong, Tong Chee and Yong Pit Kee. 1998. Guanxi bases, Xinyong and Chinese business networks. **The British Journal of Sociology**, Andover, Vol. 49, No. 1, March: 75-96.

Kissinger, Henry. 1994. Diplomacy. Simon & Schuster.

Komter, Aafke. 2001. Heirlooms, Nikes, and Bribes: Toward A Sociological of Things. **Sociology**, Vol. 35, No.1, February: 59-75.

Leung, T. K. P., Y. H. Wong and Syson Wong. 1996. A study of Hong Kong Businessmen's Perceptions of the Role "guanxi" in the People's Republic of China. Journal of Business Ethics, Dordrecht, Vol. 15, No. 7, July: 749-758.

Li, Zonggui. 1991. **Zhongguo Wenhua Gailun** (An Introduction to Chinese Culture). trans. Suk, Lee Je. Seoul: Songmoonsun Press.

Luo, Yadong. 1997a. Guanxi: principles, philosophies, and implications. Human Systems Management, Amsterdam, Vol. 16, No. 1: 43-51.

Luo, Yadong. 1997b. Guanxi and performance of foreign-invested enterprises in China: An Empirical Inquiry. **Management International Review**, Vol. 37, No. 1, First Quarter: 51-70.

Lydgate, Chris. 1998. Cutting out the middleman. Dell shows its made-to-order model can work in Asia. Asian Business, Hong Kong, Vol. 34, No. 5, May: 12-13.

Malinowski, B. 1961. Argonauts of the Western Pacific: An account of native enterprise and adventure in the archipelagoes of Melanesian New Guinea. New York: Dutton.

Marsden, Peter V. and Nan Lin, ed. 1982. Social Structure and Network Analysis. Sage Publications.

Marshall, Gordon. 1994. **The Concise Oxford Dictionary of Sociology**. Oxford University Press.

Marchetti, Michele. 1997. Selling in China? Go Slowly. **Sales and Marketing Management**, New York, Vol. 149, No. 1, January: 35-36.

Mauss, Marcel. 1967. The Gift. Translated by Ian Cunnison. New York: W. W. Norton.

McPherson, Miller, Smith-Lovin Lynn and James M Cook. 2001. Birds of A Feather: Homophily in Social Networks. **Annual Review of Sociology**, Vol. 27: 415-44.

Merton, Robert K. 1938. Social Structure and Anomie. American Sociological Review, No. 3: 672-682.

Miller, D. 1995. Consumption And Commodities. Annual Review of Anthropology, No. 24: 141-161.

Murphy, Ian P. 1996. It takes guanxi to do business in China. Marketing News, Chicago, Vol. 30, No. 22, October: 12.

Powell, Walter W and Smith-Doer. 1994. Networks and Economic Life. In Smelser and Swedberg (eds), **The Handbook of Economic Sociology**, 368-394.

Radcliffe-Brown, A. R. 1964. The Andaman Islanders. New York, Free Press.

Rizter, George. 1996. Modern Sociological Theory. Fourth Edition. The McGraw-Hill Companies, INC.

Roberts, Dexter in Beijing, Stan Crock and Amy Borrus in Washington. 1997. Jim Sasser: guanxi is his middle name. **Business Week**, New York, Industrial/technology Edition, July 21: 46.

Sahlins, Marshall. 1972. Stone Age Economics. Chicago, Aldine-Atherton.

Sangwha, Lee. 1999. The Patriarchy in China: An Investigation of Public and Private Spheres. Asian Journal of Women's Studies, Vol. 5, No. 1: 9-29.

Schurmann, Franz. 1970. Ideology and Organization in Communist China, 2d ed. Berkeley: University of California Press.

Sender, Henny and Pamela Yatsko. 1997. Shuffle and Deal. Why Deng's death didn't rattle Hong Kong's 'red-chips'. **Far Eastern Economic Review**, Hong Kong, Vol. 160, No. 10, March 6: 60-61.

Shaw, Victor N. 1996. Social Control in China. A Study of Chinese Work Units. Praeger Publishers.

Shirk, Susan. 1982. Competitive Comrade. University of California Press.

Shoveller, Joanne. 1999. Asian Influence. An education in the Asian style. **Ivey Business Journal**. September/October: 76-77.

Stockman, Norman. 2000. Understanding Chinese Society. Blackwell Publishers Inc.

Taylor, Jeffery. 1997. As speechmakers go, few can say they are in Bush's league. **Wall Street Journal**, New York, Eastern Edition, May 29: A, 1:4

Tsang, Eric W.K. 1998. Can guanxi be a Source of sustained competitive advantage for doing business in China? Academy of Management Executive, Vol. 12, No. 2: 64 – 73.

Tsui, Anne S. and Jing-lih Larry Farh. 1997. Where Guanxi Matters. Relational Demography and Guanxi in the Chinese context. **Work and Occupations**, Vol. 24, No. 1, February: 56-79.

Vanhonacker, Wilfried. 1997. Entering China: An Unconventional Approach. Harvard Business Review, Boston, Vol. 75, No. 2, March/April: 130-140

Vogel, Ezra F. 1965. From Friendship to Comradship. China Quarterly, No. 21: 46-60.

_____. 1989. One Step Ahead in China: Guangdong Under Reform. Harvard University Press.

Wall street Journal. 1997. Guanxi maximizing. Eastern Edition, New York, January 31: A, 18: 1.

Walder, A. G. 1983. Organized Dependency and Cultures of Authority in Chinese Industry. **Journal of Asian Studies**, Vol. 43, No. 1, November: 51-76.

_____. 1986. Communist Neo-Traditionalism. Berkeley: University of California Press.

Weakland, John H. 1950. The Organization of Action in Chinese Culture. **Psychiatry**, No. 13: 361- 370.

Webb, Sara. 1997. Chinese shares show 'guanxi' appeal. **Wall Street Journal**, New York, N.Y., Eastern Edition, Sep. 29: C1

Wellman, Barry. 1979. The Community Question: The Intimate Networks of East Yorkers. **American Journal of Sociology**, Vol. 84, No. 5: 1201-1231.

_____. 1983. Network Analysis: Some Basic Principles. Sociological Theory: 155-200.

Wellman, Barry, ed. 1999. Networks in the Global Village: Life in Contemporary Communities. Westview Press.

_____, Wenhong Chen and Dong Weizhen. "Networking Guanxi." March 13, 2001. http://www.chass.utoronto.ca/~wellman/publications/guanxi (September 7, 2002).

Westermarck, Edward. 1908. The Origin and Development of the Moral Ideas. London: Macmillan, Vol. 2.

Whyte, Martin King and William L. Parish. 1978. Village and Family in Contemporary China. The University of Chicago Press.

_____. 1984. Urban Life in Contemporary China.

The University of Chicago Press.

Wong, Y. H. 1998. The Dynamics of guanxi in China. Singapore Management review, Singapore, Vol. 20, No. 2, July: 25-42.

Xin, Katherine R.and Jone L. Pearce. 1996. Guanxi: Connections as Substitutes for Formal Institutional Support. Academy of Management Journal, Vol. 39, No. 6: December: 1641-1658.

Yan, Yunxiang. 1996. The Flow of Gifts. Reciprocity and Social Networks in a Chinese Village. Stanford University Press.

Yang, C. K. 1959. Some Characteristics of Chinese Bureaucratic Bahavior. In Confucianism in Action, ed. Arthur Wright. Stanford: Stanford University Press.

Yang, K. S. 1986. Chinese Personality and Its Change. In M. H. Bond (Ed.), **Psychology** of Chinese People. Hong Kong: Oxford University Press.

. 1988. Will Societal Modernization Eliminate Cross-cultural Psychological Differences? In M. H. Bond (Ed.), **The Cross-Cultural Challenge to Social Psychology**, London, UK: Sage Publications.

. 1993. Chinese Social Orientation: An Integrative Analysis. In L. Y. Cheng, F.M.C. Cheung, & C.N. Chen (Eds.), **Psychotherapy for the Chineses: Selected Papers from the First International Conference** (pp. 19-56). Hong Kong: The Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Yang, M.M. 1994. Gifts, favors and banquets: the art of social relationships in China. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.

Yatsko, Pamela. 1997. Model partner. CP in China: imported expertise and local connections. **Far Eastern Economic Review**, Hong Kong, Vol. 160, No. 4, January 23: 45.

Yeung, Irene Y.M. and Rosalie L. Tung. 1996. Achieving Business Success in Confucian Societies: The Importance of Guanxi (Connections). **Organizational Dynamics**, New York, Vol. 25, No. 2, Autumn: 54-65.

Yuan, Zhongren. 1981. Tan "guanxixue" de shehui gengyuan. (A discussion of the social roots of "guanxixue"). Gongren Ribao. (Worker's Daily), January 29: 3.

Zheng, Yefu. 1984. Shilun *guanxixue*. (An exploration of *guanxixue*). Shehuixue yu shehui diaocha (Sociology and Social Investigation), No. 2-3.

Zucker, L. G. 1986. Production of Trust: Institutional Sources of Economic Structure: 1840 to 1920. **Research in Organizational Behavior**, Vol. 8: 55-111.